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Chairman’s Statement

ITRHRES

CHINA’S ELECTRICITY DEMAND CONTINUES TO RISE
FASTER THAN GDP

China’s electricity demand continues to rise faster than GDP growth.
According to the China Electricity Council, in 2024, electricity
consumption in China increased 6.8% compared to GDP growth of 5%.
Government stimulus in the fourth quarter helped achieve China’s target
growth rate.

However, electricity consumption is increasing not only because of
GDP growth, but also because of the increase in electrification across
industries. The number of newly registered electric cars increased to
11.25 million in 2024 compared to 1.2 million in 2019. For the entire year,
there were 31.4 million electric cars. The usage of artificial intelligence
is also increasing demand. As a result, electricity consumption as a
percentage of total energy consumption increased to 28.1% in 2023
compared to 25.5% in 2020. According to the China Electricity Council,
this is expected to reach 35% by 2030.

Meanwhile, China’s wind and solar industry continues to grow rapidly.
According to the National Energy Administration, wind capacity rose
18% to 548 GW and solar capacity rose 45.0% to 854 GW of installed
capacity. China’s goal was to have 1,200 GW of combined wind and
solar capacity by 2030, so they are already ahead of schedule. And, for
the first time ever, wind and solar energy exceed coal power in capacity.
China’s power sector is set to achieve peak emissions in 2025.

WIND CONDITIONS WERE DISAPPOINTING IN 2024

For 2024, wind resources were disappointing compared to 2023. Total
power dispatch at the Company’s wind farms in 2024 was 1,323.1 GWh
or 1,803 utilization hours, a decrease of 7% compared to 1,423.8 GWh
or 1,940 utilization hours in 2023. Power dispatch at Mudanjiang was
7.5% lower, in Sizwang Qi 8.1% lower, in Danjinghe 11.6% lower, in
Changma 13.5% lower, and in Songxian 11.8% lower. However, power
dispatch at Lunaobao increased 30% as the construction of a new
transmission line at the end of 2023 reduced curtailment.

4 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

WIND CONDITIONS WERE DISAPPOINTING IN 2024
(continued)

Much of this decline happened because of poor wind conditions during
the first half of the year. Wind resources were particularly disappointing
during January and April. From January to June of 2024, the average
wind speed for all the Company’s wind farms decreased to an average
of 5.8 m/s compared to 6.2 m/s in the same period in 2023. Power
dispatch was also impacted by unusually cold weather at Songxian.
Heavy snowfall and the freezing of turbines led to the collapse of a tower
and the shutdown of some turbines, reducing the amount of power that
could be generated. However, this is a one-time incident, and is not
expected to occur regularly.

HOWEVER, THERE WAS SOME IMPROVEMENT IN THE
SECOND HALF OF THE YEAR AND THE FIRST TWO
MONTHS OF 2025 ARE CLEARLY BETTER

While power generated was disappointing in the first half of 2024, there
was some improvement in the second half of the year. Power generated
in the second half of the year decreased only 2% compared to the same
period in 2023, with an average windspeed of 5.4 m/s. Curtailment
dropped 52%, particularly because of the improvement at Lunaobao.
Curtailment at most of the Group’s other windfarms were also lower.

The first two months of 2025 are showing significant improvement
compared to 2024. Wind speed has increased 11% year on year,
resulting in a 37% increase in electricity generated and also 15% better
than in 2023.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEBESE
CRE's Electricity Dispatched (GWH) by Year
REIASNPEBLEFNESE (FRE)
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CRE IS CONCERNED ABOUT MARKET-BASED POWER H EBIB4 g RETHEEE

TARIFFS

In February 2025, China’s National Development and Reform
Commission and National Energy Administration announced its “Notice
on deepening market-oriented reform of feed-in tariff for renewable
to promote high-quality development of renewable energy.” This new
policy will become official on June 1, 2025. This policy will end the policy
of fixed tariffs. Feed-in tariffs for wind power will be based on market
transactions.

The Group has already experienced the negative impact of some
provinces asking renewable energy companies to sell some of their
power at market-based prices. In these examples, the price is set at
competitive auction rather than fixed prices pegged to benchmarks for
coal-fired power. Our wind farm in Siziwangqi, located in Inner Mongolia,
have been impacted the most, with the basic realized tariff dropping
6%. The tariff at Mudanjiang, located in Heilongjiang, has declined 5%.
At Lunaobao, located in Hebei, the tariff has dropped 2%. The Group’s
other windfarms were not impacted in 2024. Overall, the Group’s
basic tariff price has declined 1%, with an average basic tariff price of
RMBO0.2753.
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Chairman’s Statement

B

CRE IS CONCERNED ABOUT MARKET-BASED POWER
TARIFFS (continued)

On the positive side, wind turbine prices continue to decline, making
the cost of constructing a wind farm much lower. Recognizing the
uncertainties for developers of market-based trading, the NDRC has
announced a policy to stabilize pricing for renewable projects built after
June 2025. The idea is that there will be a contract-for-difference (CFD)
tariff mechanism on new wind power projects. However, the exact level
of tariff support has not yet been announced.

Given this uncertainty, the Group has decided to pause new expansion
plans until there is more certainty over the government’s level of support
for new projects. Building wind farms is very capital intensive, so CRE
needs to clarify this issue before proceeding further and is hopeful that
the government will provide the minimum amount of support necessary.
The Group will continue its feasibility studies on its repowering projects
for existing windfarms.

LOWER WIND RESOURCES RESULT IN DECLINE IN
EARNINGS

Because of the lower wind resources, revenues for the Group’s own
windfarms declined 10% to HK$163.1 million. Gross profit declined
37%. Wind resources were also disappointing for the Group’s associate
windfarms, with net profit at these windfarms declining 61% to HK$
22.2 million. Profits were also impacted as Danjinghe’s tariff subsidy of
RMBO0.1286/kWH and Changma’s tariff subsidy of RMB0.2128/KWh
were eliminated in April 2024. This was expected as both wind farms
reached the 30,000 hours of wind power dispatch subsidy allowed by the
original contract. Given the Group’s strong cash position, finance costs
dropped 52% to HK$11.6 million as the Group has repaid loans.

Overall, the Group’s earnings declined 29% to HK$16.5 million or
earnings per share of HKO.66 cents. For the same period in 2023,
earnings was HK$23.3 million or earnings per share of HK0.93 cents.
CRE will maintain its dividend at HK$12.5 million, for a dividend payout
ratio of 75.8%.
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Chairman’s Statement

EF/ES

CRE BALANCE SHEET AND CASHFLOW IS STRONG

Given the uncertainties over tariffs, CRE has been very cautious on
windfarm expansion. Although accounts receivables have risen to
HK$322.3 million from HK$289.6 million, the Group’s careful cash
management and strong cashflow has resulted in a very strong balance
sheet. The Group has bank deposits and cash of HK$232.2 million
versus bank borrowings of HK$227.6 million, with a net debt equity ratio
of 0%.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my greatest thanks to all
our business partners, employees, management and shareholders for
the dedication and support you have shown for CRE throughout the year
under review.

OEIl Kang, Eric
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (“CRE” or the “Company”, and with its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “Group”) recorded HK$163.1 million in turnover.
Unexpected poor wind conditions in 2024 led to a 10% decrease in
revenue during the year as compared to last year's HK$181.3 million.
Gross profit for the year decreased 37 % to HK$32.9 million (2023:
HK$52.1 million). Net finance costs have been reduced as the Group
has paid back loans without incurring additional capital expenditures,
dropping from HK$24.2 million in 2023 to HK$11.6 million in 2024.

For the Group’s associate company wind farms, wind resources were
also poor during 2024. As a result, net profit from the associates
decreased 61% to HK$22.2 million as compared to last year's HK$57.1
million.

Overall, the Group’s net profit after tax attributable to the equity holders
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 declined 29% to
HK$16.5 million or earnings per share of HK0.66 cents. For the same
period in 2023, net profit after tax attributable to the equity holders of the
Group was HK$23.3 million or earnings per share of HK0.93 cents.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total bank borrowings was
reduced to HK$227.6 million as compared to HK$287.8 million in 2023.
The difference was mainly due to the repayment of principal for existing
project loans.

The bank borrowings solely include project loans. Project loans were
interest-bearing RMB bank loans used to finance the Group’s wind farm
projects in the People’s Republic of China (“China”), with interest rates
based on the People’'s Bank of China rates or Loan Prime Rate. The
maturity dates for the Group’s outstanding bank borrowings were as
follows: HK$32.4 million is repayable within one year, HK$130.0 million
repayable within two to five years and HK$65.2 million repayable after five
years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR D

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits and cash of the Group was
HK$232.2 million as compared to HK$164.3 million in 2023. The
difference was mainly related to the combined effect of dividend received
from associates, repayment of principal for existing project loans and
payment of 2023 final dividend.

The Group did not use any financial instruments for financial hedging
purposes during the period under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group’s subsidiary has charged its assets including wind power
equipment, related right-of-use assets and trade receivables, with
a carrying value of approximately RMB460.6 million (equivalent to
HK$488.7 million) as security for the bank borrowings as at 31 December
2024. Such assets, with a carrying value of approximately RMB720.4
million (equivalent to HK$789.4 million), were charged as at 31 December
2023.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net gearing ratio, defined as
the total borrowings plus the amount due to a shareholder, less bank
deposits and cash, divided by total equity, was 0% as compared to 7%
as at 31 December 2023.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

10 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

China’s economy continued to rebound from nearly three years of
stringent “zero Covid” pandemic control measures. GDP rose 5%. With
an improved economy and increasing electrification across different
industries, demand for electric power has increased. The car industry,
in particular, is showing strong usage of electricity as consumers are
increasingly purchasing electric vehicles. Total power consumption in
China increased 6.8% as compared to 2023, reaching 9,852,000 Giga-
Watt-hours (“GWh”) in 2024.

Reflecting the government’s goal to increase renewable energy, China’s
wind and solar power generation capacity increased even more strongly,
rising 18.0% and 45.0% respectively to an aggregate total of 548
Giga-Watt (“GW”) and 854 GW respectively. Total wind power output
was 991,600 GWh, an increase of around 16.0% compared to 2023,
accounting for 11% of total power generation across the country. Total
solar power output was 834,100 GWh, an increase of around 44.0%
compared to 2023, accounting for 9% of total power generation across
the country.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has eight wind farms and one
distributed solar project under operation. Total gross power generating
capacity is 738 MW and net power generating capacity is 427MW.

The wind conditions in the areas that the Company operates in Gansu,
Hebei, Henan and Inner Mongolia provinces were lower in 2024
compared to 2023. Total power dispatch of the Company’s wind farms
in 2024 reached 1,323.1 GWh or 1,803 utilization hours, a decrease of
7% compared to 1,423.8 GWh or 1,940 utilization hours in 2023.

Mudanjiang and Muling Wind Farms

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, located in Heilongjiang province,
have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power capacity. The wind farms
started commercial operation in the fourth quarter of 2007. The Group
holds majority stakes of 86% and 86.7% respectively. During 2024,
wind resources were worse than last year and curtailment was higher.
Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms dispatched power of approximately
49.4 GWh, which was equivalent to 830 utilization hours, 7.5% lower
than last year’s power dispatch of 53.4 GWh (equivalent to 897 utilization
hours).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il Wind Farms

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farms have a total of 99 MW of wind
power capacity and are wholly-owned by the Group. They are located
16 kilometres north of Wulanhua under Siziwang Qi of Western Inner
Mongolia. Commercial operation of Phase | and Il started in January 2011
and January 2015 respectively. During 2024, wind resources were worse
than last year, even though curtailment decreased. Siziwang Qi Phase |
and Il wind farms dispatched power of approximately 193.2 GWh, which
was equivalent to 1,951 utilization hours, 8.1% lower than last year’s
power dispatch of 210.3 GWh (equivalent to 2,124 utilization hours).

Danjinghe Wind Farm

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the 200 MW Danjinghe
wind farm located in Hebei. The majority and controlling shareholder is
the wind power division of China Energy Conservation and Environmental
Protection Group (“CECEP”), which holds 60%. The entire wind farm
commenced commercial operation in September 2010. As this project
was obtained through the national tendering process, the wind farm
enjoyed minimal curtailment. During 2024, wind resources were worse
than last year. Danjinghe project dispatched power of approximately
356.7 GWh, which was equivalent to 1,784 utilization hours, 11.6%
lower than last year's power dispatch of 403.7 GWh (equivalent to 2,018
utilization hours).

Changma Wind Farm

Changma wind farm, located in Gansu province, is a joint venture with
CECEP. The Group has a 40% effective interest in the project company.
The 201 MW wind farm started commercial operation in November
2010. As this project was also obtained through the national tendering
process, the wind farm enjoyed minimal curtailment. During 2024, wind
resources were worse than last year. Changma project dispatched power
of approximately 403.8 GWh, which was equivalent to 2,009 utilization
hours, 13.5% lower than last year’s power dispatch of 466.7 GWh
(equivalent to 2,322 utilization hours).

12 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Lunaobao Wind Farm

Lunaobao wind farm is a joint venture with CECEP and is adjacent to
the Danjinghe wind farm. The Group has a 30% effective equity interest.
The wind farm capacity is 100.5 MW and started commercial operation
in February 2011. Unlike Danjinghe, Lunaobao was not obtained through
the national tendering process, hence it does not enjoy low curtailment.
Although wind resources in 2024 were less than 2023, curtailment was
reduced due to the construction of a new transmission line at the end of
2023. As a result, Lunacbao dispatched power of approximately 200.2
GWh, which was equivalent to 1,992 utilization hours, 30.0% higher than
last year’s power dispatch of 154.0 GWh (equivalent to 1,532 utilization
hours).

Songxian Wind Farm

Songxian wind farm, located in Songxian of Luoyang city in Henan
province, has a total of 74 MW wind power capacity and is wholly-
owned by the Group. The first 36 MW wind power capacity commenced
commercial operation in February 2019, and the entire 74 MW started full
operation from May 2020. During 2024, wind resources were worse than
last year. Songxian project dispatched power of approximately 119.8
GWh, which was equivalent to 1,619 utilization hours, 11.8% lower than
last year’s power dispatch of 135.8 GWh (equivalent to 1,836 utilization
hours). Power dispatch was impacted by unusually cold weather which
resulted in the collapse of one wind tower and the freezing of some wind
turbines, an unusual circumstance which is not expected to occur again.

Nanxun Distributed Solar Project

Nanxun distributed solar project is located in Nanxun district of Huzhou
city in Zhejiang province, and is the Group’s first wholly-owned distributed
rooftop solar project. The 4 Mega-Watt-peak (“MWp”) distributed solar
project was installed over 60,000 square meters of rooftops on Nanxun
International Building Materials City, a commercial complex owned by
CRE’s parent company, HKC (Holdings) Limited. Power generated is
sold to Nanxun International Building Materials City and any excess
power is sold to the local grid company. The project commenced
commercial operation in March 2018. The power dispatched in 2024 was
approximately 4.5 GWh, which was equivalent to 1,129 utilization hours.
The performance was 2.2% lower than last year's power dispatch of 4.6
GWh (equivalent to 1,154 utilization hours).
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BUSINESS MODEL & RISK MANAGEMENT

CRE’s main business is acting as an investor-operator in China’s
renewable energy sector, in which we secure, develop, construct
and operate power stations in order to provide reliable electricity to
customers. As one of the main external investors in China’s renewable
energy sector, the Group is well positioned to contribute to the
government’s plan for a low-carbon economy.

Our Group strategy “Grow Advance Sustain” guides our operations
and development going forward. All investment opportunities are
thoroughly evaluated by the Executive Committee and the Board based
on a combination of project economic, environmental and social benefits.
We plan to continue to develop renewable energy projects and look for
growth investment opportunities. In CRE, every kilo-Watt-hour (“kWh”)
energy output counts. We therefore strive to innovate and advance
in all aspects of our business and operations to continuously enhance
our profitability with an ultimate goal to create sustainable value and to
increase return for shareholders.

Risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group; risk
is inherent in our business and the market in which it operates. Rather
than being a standalone process, risk management is integrated into
our daily business process, from project level day-to-day operation to
corporate level strategy development and investment decisions.

Through a bottom-up approach, we identify and review existing and
emerging risks semi-annually. Identified risks are then monitored and
discussed at the Group level. The risk management process is overseen
by the Executive Committee and the Board as an element of our strong
corporate governance. Within CRE, all risks factors are classified under 6
different categories, (i) Policy and Regulations, (i) Legal and Compliance,
(iiiy Safety, Health and Environmental, (iv) Financial, (v) Operational and (vi)
Reputational; and are evaluated through assessing their consequences
and likelihood. With a continuous and proactive approach to risk
management, the Group is committed to identifying material risks and
then to managing these so that they can be understood, minimised,
mitigated or avoided.

14 china Renewable Energy Investment Limited
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OUTLOOK

The outlook for China’s economy is positive for 2025. At the recent
NPC meeting, the government committed to maintaining a 5% GDP
growth rate and will increase its budget deficit to 4% in order to provide
the stimulus for that growth. The government’s main priority is to boost
domestic consumption. To do this, it is issuing ultra-long treasury bonds
to finance consumer goods trade-in programs. The government is
also emphasizing technological self-reliance and the use of Al in smart
manufacturing, new-energy vehicles and robots. It also is proposing
to boost the property industry so that consumer confidence can be
stabilized. These measures should result in strong power demand for
2025.

While wind resources were disappointing in 2024, the second half of
the year was not as poor as the first half and the first couple of months
of 2025 were significantly better. For January and February 2025,
wind speed has increased 11% year on year. As a result, the electricity
generated has increased 37% year on year, and 15% compared to the
same period in 2023.

The government is asking local governments to shift new wind power
projects to a more market-based pricing system by the end of 2025
rather than the current administratively set prices that are based on
benchmarks for coal-fired power. The reason is that the cost of building
new wind farms has dropped significantly over the last several years and
the government no longer needs to build renewable energy at the same
pace as in previous years. The NDRC states that China’s clean energy
capacity has already reached more than 40% of the economy’s total
energy generation capacity.

However, this new policy is creating uncertainty over future pricing. The
loss of guaranteed demand at fixed prices will create risk for wind power
developers. Recognizing this uncertainty, the government states that
there will be a contract-for-difference (CFD) tariff mechanism for new wind
power projects, similar to the UK'’s “contract for difference” mechanism.
However, the exact level of tariff support has not been announced for the
areas where CRE is operating.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

The Group has decided to pause its development of new wind farms until
there is more clarity on the prices for tariffs and the amount of demand
for a project’s wind power. However, the Group is continuing to explore
the re-powering of some of its wind farm projects whose operating
contracts are expected to end. The Group’s wind farm in Heilongjiang
is the Group’s first wind farm. This wind farm is approaching the end
of its operating contract. CRE is looking to replace the old 0.85 MW
wind turbines with new 6.66 MW turbines, replacing the 70 units with
just 9. To reduce the amount of turbulence impacted by trees at the
location, CRE is looking to increase the height of the wind towers to
140 meters compared to the current 65 meters. This will result in higher
wind speeds. We are currently asking for quotations from several turbine
manufacturers.

With a net gearing ratio of 0%, the Group has one of the strongest
balance sheets in the industry. Whereas other SOE developers have
borrowed heavily, have weaker balance sheets, and face the stress of
weaker cash flows given curtailment, lower tariffs, and high accounts
receivables, CRE’s cash flow is strong and the Group is well positioned
to take advantage of opportunities.

Employees

As at the end of December 2024, the Group’s operations in Hong
Kong and Mainland China employed a total of 93 employees. Our core
requirement is to ensure that we attract, retain and deploy employees
with the capabilities needed to secure, develop, construct and operate
our assets. In 2024, we have strengthened our resources and capabilities
through a combination of external recruitment and internal transfers of
staff. These have enabled us to enhance performance through common
standards and processes in safety, project management and asset
management. The Group has also appointed technical consultants
on contract terms when deemed necessary for the development of
new projects and for operation of existing projects. All employees
are remunerated according to the nature of their jobs, their individual
performances, the Group’s overall performance, and the prevailing
marketing conditions.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector since
2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental protection
and support for the low carbon development of China. CRE strives to
continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy sector to adapt
to the changing expectations of our stakeholders while balancing the
needs of our shareholders, environment and the communities we operate
in.

The Group has 738 MW of operating wind farms and a distributed
solar project in Gansu, Hebei, Heilongjiang, Henan, Inner Mongolia and
Zhejiang provinces. Most of our projects are located in remote northern
regions. They greatly benefit the economic development of the local areas
through investment, by reducing local pollution and carbon emissions,
and by contributing to the local community through the hiring of local staff
who are given fair market-based remuneration packages. In 2024, CRE’s
operating assets complied with all local environmental related regulatory
requirements. With a total electricity generation of 1,327.6 GWh, we have
reduced approximately 430,000 tons of coal consumption and 1,028,000
tons of carbon emission.

We place importance on creating positive relationships with stakeholders
through understanding and addressing their expectations. As one of
the main foreign investors in China’s renewable energy industry, we
continue to maintain close contacts with our stakeholders, including but
not limited to the Government (e.g. the NDRC and NEA at both national
and provincial level), local authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau)
and State Grid Corporation through various meetings to facilitate their
understanding of our business, operations and development direction.

The Group will continue to support the goal to decrease carbon
emissions by investing in various renewable energy projects. At the same
time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the communities
we operate in as the Group grows larger and more profitable.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREERE

MR. OEI KANG, ERIC

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 54, has been appointed as Executive Director,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 10 April
2008. He also holds several directorships in other members of the
Group and the chairman of the Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 20 March 2019. He was
educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics
(with a minor in Electrical Engineering), and a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration. Earlier in his career, he worked with Peregrine
Securities Ltd. and PCCW Limited in Hong Kong, the LG Group in Seoul
and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl re-designated as a
director of HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”), the controlling shareholder
of the Company, in June 2021 upon the privatization of HKC. He is also
a director of certain subsidiaries of HKC. Mr. OEl is also the director and
the shareholder of Claudio Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder
of HKC.

MRS. OEI VALONIA LAU

(Executive Director)

Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau, aged 54, has been appointed as Executive
Director of the Company since 31 May 2024. She is currently the
Human Resources and Administration Director of the Group and HKC,
the controlling shareholder of the Company. Mrs. OEl also serves as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and HKC. Mrs. OEl is
the spouse of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric who is the Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company. Mr. OEl and Mrs. OEl
are the controlling shareholders of the Company and HKC. Mrs. OEl
was educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Business
Economics at UCLA in 1993. Since April 2008, Mrs. OEl is responsible
for the overall management, strategic development, human resources
and general administration of the Group. Mrs. OEl has extensive
experience in the alternative energy business and property development
and management business.
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Directors and Senior Management
EZREREEE

MR. WONG JAKE LEONG, SAMMY

(Executive Director)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy, aged 64, has been appointed as
Executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2014. He has been
instrumental in raising funds for the Group. Mr. WONG is the Investor
Relations Director of the Group, and is currently serving as a member of
the Executive Committee of the Company. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Since 2007, Mr. WONG has joined HKC, and
re-designated as a director of HKC in June 2021 upon the privatization
of HKC. He also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the HKC
Group.

Mr. WONG received a Bachelor’'s degree in the geophysical sciences
from the University of Chicago and an MBA from the Yale School of
Management. Before Yale, he worked as a petroleum geologist at Sohio
Petroleum. After Yale, Mr. WONG became an investment banker at
Kidder, Peabody in New York, where he was involved in project finance.
He moved to Hong Kong with Bear Stearns, and was involved in a variety
of corporate finance activities, including some of the first H share IPOs
out of China. Mr. WONG then worked in equity research at Societe
Generale where he was in charge of the research efforts in Shanghai; and
later as vice President and head of China Research at Credit Suisse in
Hong Kong. Before joining HKC, Mr. WONG served as a Chief Financial
Officer for DVN (Holdings) Limited (now known as “Frontier Services
Group Limited”), where he was involved in fund raising and introducing
strategic investors to the company.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEE

MR. LEE SHIU YEE, DANIEL

(Executive Director)

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, aged 59, has been appointed as Executive
Director and a member of the Executive Committee of the Company
since 1 June 2020. He is the Project Director of Property Department
of HKC since December 2010 and has been appointed as Executive
Director of HKC since January 2014. Mr. LEE re-designated as a director
of HKC in June 2021 upon the privatization of HKC. Mr. LEE also holds
several directorships in other members of the Group and serves as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the HKC Group. He has over thirty years
of project management experience in property developments in Hong
Kong and China. Before joining the HKC Group, Mr. LEE was the General
Manager (Property Projects) of the Property Department of CITIC Pacific
Limited.

Mr. LEE holds a Professional Diploma in Quantity Surveying (Hong
Kong Polytechnic), a Bachelor of Laws (LLB) degree with honours (City
University, Hong Kong) and an MSc degree in Construction Management
(Reading University, UK). He is a Registered Professional Surveyor, a
member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
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Directors and Senior Management
EZREREEE

MR. CHENG YUK WO

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 64, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2022. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. CHENG holds a Master of
Science Degree in Economics, Accounting and Finance and a Bachelor
of Arts (Hons.) Degree in Accounting. He is a fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of Ontario. His career includes more than 30 years’ accounting and
corporate advisory services expertise in several listed companies in Hong
Kong. Mr. CHENG is the proprietor of a certified public accountancy
practice in Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG is currently an independent non-executive director of CSI
Properties Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited, CPMC
Holdings Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited, Miricor Enterprises
Holdings Limited, Somerley Capital Holdings Limited and Kidsland
International Holdings Limited, all being Hong Kong listed companies,
and Chong Hing Bank Limited, C.P. Pokphand Co. Ltd. and Goldbond
Group Holdings Limited (three companies delisted from the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange). Mr. CHENG was an independent non-executive
director of Top Spring International Holdings Limited and DTXS Silk
Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (both companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. CHENG was also an
independent non-executive director of HKC (Holdings) Limited (delisted
from the Main Board of the Stock Exchange), the controlling shareholder
of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEE

MR. TIAN YUCHUAN

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan, aged 60, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 23 April 2013. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. TIAN holds a Bachelor
of Arts Degree from Beijing Foreign Studies University. He also obtained
an executive education program certificate from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Management in 2009 and completed a program in leadership
and public policy at University of Oxford in 2012. Mr. TIAN has over 39
years of experience in multinational business, corporate management,
international equity investment and corporate finance. Mr. TIAN was
appointed as an independent director of KBM Oil Co., Ltd., a joint
venture oil company owned by CITIC Resources Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1205), with effect from 1 February 2023. Mr. TIAN was the
President of SITE Centers Capital Management LLC. Previously, Mr. TIAN
was the executive director and chief executive officer of CITIC Dameng
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1091) (now known as “South Manganese
Investment Limited”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. He also held senior positions in several subsidiaries of CITIC
Group between 1986 and 2004. Mr. TIAN was employed as the Senior
Vice President, Corporate Strategy and Development and served as a
director of some subsidiaries of HKC between April 2006 to March 2008.

MR. ZHANG SONGY!I

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 69, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2016. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He obtained a Juris Doctor
degree from Yale University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in
senior management and advisory capacities in several companies,
including acting as the chairman of Mandra Capital. He was a director
of SINA Corporation, a company listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market
until March 2021 and an independent non-executive director of China
Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. ZHANG was
previously an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company from
April 2008 to April 2013.
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Corporate Governance Report
SRERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”, and with
its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good corporate
governance principles and practices and its board of directors (the
“Directors” or the “Board”) recognises that it is essential to safeguard
the interests of its shareholders (the “Shareholders”), customers,
suppliers, employees, regulators, business partners, environmental
groups and any other stakeholders (collectively the “Stakeholders”) and
uphold accountability, transparency and responsibility of the Company.
The Group has applied the priniciples of good corporate governance
by considering and safeguards the interests of the Stakeholders in its
business strategy to enable shareholders to make evaluation on the
Group’s corporate governance standards.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”), contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
during the year ended 31 December 2024, except for the deviation
under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as explained below with
considered reason for such deviation.

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer (“CEQ”) should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the current organisation
structure of the Company, the functions of CEO are performed by the
Chairman of the Company, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support from the
other Executive Directors. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and
the management of the Company, and has been effective in discharging
its responsibilities satisfactorily and facilitating the Company’s operation
and business development. The Board will review the structure from
time to time to ensure it continues to meet the principle and will consider
segregation of the roles of chairman and CEO if and when appropriate.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, the principles as set out in the CG Code have
been applied in our corporate governance structure throughout the
year. The Board has taken actions and measures to make sure that the
Company is in all aspects in strict compliance with the Listing Rules and
the CG Code. During the year, the Board has reviewed the following
corporate governance fucntions:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

CORPORATE STRATEGY, BUSINESS MODEL AND
CULTURE

The Group has the mission to excel in renewable energy sector whilst
maintaining long-term profitability and assets growth with adoption of
flexible business model and strategy and prudential risk and governance
management framework. The Board have played and will continue to
play a proactive role in the Group’s development of business model
to preserve the culture of the Group in the Group’s business strategic
drive for business development and and the Group’s setting of strategic
goals, priorities and initiatives undertaken to motivate staff to achieve
business and financial targets. During the board meetings held by the
Company during the year 2024, latest renewable business development
were discussed and followed up on the operational status. Details of the
Group’s business performance and financial review for the year 2024
are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this
annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report

EEERRSE

CORPORATE STRATEGY, BUSINESS MODEL AND

CULTURE (CONTINUED)

Below is the summary of the alignment of the purposes, values and
strategy with the Group’s culture and the steps taken on implement the

desired culture.

Core Values, Purposes
and Strategy

Creating Sustainable Value

Integrity

People-oriented

Actions to align with the Group’s
culture

We create sustainability through
environmental protection endeavours
and collaboration with the society by
engaging renewable energy sector.

We uphold honestly, high ethical
standards and integrity in all our
actions and business practices.

We balance the needs of shareholders,
employees, customers, government,
society and environment to create
sustainable value.

The Board considers that the Group’s culture and the purpose, values
and strategy of the Group are aligned.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

The Board of the Company during the year and up to the date of this

annual report comprised:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau

(@appointed on 31 May 2024)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan
Mr. ZHANG Songyi
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The Company has at all time maintained a balanced board with strong
independent element. The Board currently comprises seven Directors
with four Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. Each Director possesses expertise and experience and
provides checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the
Group and the Shareholders as a whole. In addition, the Company had
maintained three Independent Non-executive Directors which formed at
least one-third of the full Board. Biographical details of the Directors and
their relationships, where applicable, are set out in pages 18 to 22 of this
Annual Report.

The Board had appointed one female director to achieve board gender
diversity at the 2024 annual general meeting of the Company held on 31
May 2024.

No relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s), if any), is between the Board members and in
particular, between the Board members and the Chairman of the Board
and the Chief Executive.

All Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed with no
specific term, but are subject to the rotation requirement in the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors with at least one Independent Non-executive
Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors was assessed in accordance with
the applicable Listing Rules. Each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors has provided to the Company an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of them are independent.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have been identified in all
corporate communications that disclose the name of directors.
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hEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Independent Views and Input

The Company recognises that Board independence is pivotal in
good corporate governance and Board effectiveness. The Board has
established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input from
any Director of the Company are conveyed to the Board for enhancing an
objective and effective decision making. The governance framework and
the following mechanisms are reviewed annually by the Board to ensure
their effectiveness:

1. Three out of the seven Directors are Independent Non-Executive
Directors, which meets the requirements of the Listing Rules that
the Board must have at least three Independent Non-Executive
Directors and must appoint Independent Non-Executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

2. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will assess the
independence, qualification and time commitment of a candidate
who is nominated to be a new Independent Non-Executive
Director before appointment and also the continued independence
of existing Independent Non-Executive Directors and their time
commitments annually. On an annual basis, all Independent
Non-Executive Directors are required to confirm in writing their
compliance of independence requirements pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules, and to disclose the number and nature of
offices held by them in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments.

3.  External independent professional advice is available as and when
required by individual Directors.

4. All Directors are encouraged to express freely their independent
views and constructive challenges during the Board/Board
Committee meetings.

5. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to Independent Non-Executive Directors.

6. A Director (including Independent Non-Executive Director) who has
a material interest in a contract, arrangement or other proposal
shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution
approving the same.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Independent Views and Input (continued)

7. The Chairman of the Board meets with Independent Non-Executive
Directors annually without the presence of the Executive Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
During the year, the Chairman and the CEO of the Company is Mr. OEl
Kang, Eric.

According to the Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and CEO should be separate and performed by different
individuals. Under the current organisation structure of the Company,
the functions of CEO are performed by the Chairman of the Company,
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support from the other Executive Directors. The
Board considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
and has been effective in discharging its responsibilities satisfactorily and
facilitating the Company’s operation and business development. The
Board will review the structure from time to time to ensure it continues to
meet the principle and will consider segregation of the roles of chairman
and CEO if and when appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group’s affairs and formulating business
strategies with a view to maximising its financial performance and
Shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities and powers to the
Board committees to assist it in efficiently implementing those functions
specified in written terms of reference.

Decisions relating to the long-term objectives and viability of the
Company, and any acquisitions or disposal of transactions and
investments of any kind with value exceeding the authority of the
Executive Committee set out in its terms of reference or the threshold
for discloseable transactions for the Company as defined in the Listing
Rules from time to time are reserved for the Board; whereas decisions
on matters set out in the terms of reference of the Executive Committee
and those not specifically reserved for the Board are delegated to the
Executive Committee and management, as applicable.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

A Director is required to abstain from deliberations and decisions of the
Board on matters where he is the interested party, and he does not
exercise any influence over the Board in respect of the matter. In the
event a corporate proposal is required to be approved by shareholders,
interested Directors are required to abstain from voting on their shares
held in the Company on the shareholders’ resolutions pertaining to
the corporate proposal, and will further undertake to ensure that
persons connected to them similarly abstain from voting on the relevant
shareholders’ resolutions.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently. The management provides monthly management
accounts of the Group to the Directors to apprise them of the Group’s
latest performance and financial position.

Directors are requested to disclose to the Company at the time of his
appointment and in a timely manner for any change, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments. Such changes will be updated and published in
the annual and interim reports as appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify
the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors proposed
for re-election at the annual general meeting are first considered by
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will assess
the candidate or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience,
skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. Having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board, the Nomination Committee will then be put recommendations
to the Board for decision. Details of the role and function as well as a
summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee are set
out under the heading of “Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the nearest to but not
less than one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but
are eligible for re-election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting
provided that every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. New appointments to the Board are also subject
to re-election by Shareholders at the next following annual general
meeting (in the case of an addition to the Board) or at the next following
general meeting (in the case of filing a casual vacancy).

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas
on the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up various Board
Committees, among others, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Executive Committee
for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has met four times.

The Audit Committee meets at twice times. The Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee meet at once time respectively.
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) E=Es)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued) EEENEESZEEER(E)

During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit RERFRITZUNTEETE S  BEXEE

PN

Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration @& W ERZECozmLFHEZEeoH
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual Directors at FM{ARIEEHFEZE €2 EINATE
these meetings is set out in the table below:

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings eligible to attend

HESHRME SEKLESERE

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee

Name of Directors BEERE EEE BERZEET® FHZEEE REREZEE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric =M A 4/4 2/2 Note i1iz) 1/1 11
Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau L+
(appointed on 31 May 2024) (R—Z =i
AA=1+—H
HEZ(E) 3/3 1/1 NoeHE - N/ANER N/A TER
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy HEREE 4/4 2/2 Noe s N/ANEA  N/A T
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel TERLE 4/4 2/2 Note i1iz) N/A “NiEF N/A “NiEF
Independent
Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo ERERAN S A& 4/4 2/2 1/1 11
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan BEEAE 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Songyi EE s 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1
Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees. FisE © SRITEBEBIHFE TR -
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include
matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying
board papers are dispatched to the Directors or committee members at
least three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings.
When Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they are advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the Chairman and CEQO prior to the
meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after the date of the meeting. All Directors have access to the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the board procedures are
complied with and advising the Board on compliance matters.

The Chairman and CEO acknowledged the significance of promoting a
culture of openness and debate among the Board members. To facilitate
the effective contribution of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
Chairman and CEO held a meeting with Independent Non-executive
Directors without the other Executive Directors present in November
2024.
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hEERRE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, who
are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, who is
the Chairman and CEO.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
Directors and senior management, and reviewing their remuneration
packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration
Committee will consult with the Chairman and CEO whenever it thinks
fit and take into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid
by comparable companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment and
responsibilities of Directors. The Remuneration Committee has the
responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee held
one meeting during the year, and the attendance details of each member
are set out on page 31.

During the year under review, the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included (i) to review the remuneration policy and structure
of Directors including those retired and re-elected at the 2024 annual
general meeting of the Company; and (i) approve the year-end bonus
and salary increment of the Executive Directors. No Director was involved
in deciding his own remuneration. Details of the Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration for the year are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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TEERRE

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Policy of the Group is established and implemented to
encourage employee behaviour that supports the Group’s risk tolerance,
risk management framework and long-term financial soundness. It is
in line with the objectives, business strategies and long-term goals of
the Group and structured in a way that will not encourage excessive
risk-taking by employees but allows the Group to attract and retain
employees with relevant skills, knowledge and expertise to discharge
their specific functions.

The basis of determining the remuneration payable to the Directors is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on page 33 of this annual
report. Details of Directors’ remuneration in the Group are set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, who
are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric, who is
the Chairman and CEO.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually, identifying suitable
candidates for directorship, assessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy. The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year, and the attendance details of each member are set out on page
31.
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hEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

During the year under review, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;
° reviewing the structure of board committees;

° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and sufficient number of independent directors to
maintain a balanced board;

. making recommendation to the Board relating to the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors; and

. reviewing the progress report from the management in relation to
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company had provided the Nomination Committee sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Where necessary, the Nomination
Committee could seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities.

Board Diversity Policy
The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
on 8 July 2013. Below is the summary of the Board Diversity Policy:

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. All appointments of the
members of the Board are made on merit, in the context of the skills and
experience the Board as a whole requires to be effective. In designing the
Board composition, the Company is committed to equality of opportunity
in all aspects and does not discriminate on the grounds, including but not
limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and any
other factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time.
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TEERRE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

The Nomination Committee discussed and agreed the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and recommended them
to the Board for adoption. During the year, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the existing composition of the Board and received and
accepted the progress report from the management in relation to
identified business skills and experience required and their ranking and
the action plan for recruiting new Board member. It also monitored the
review of the Company’s recruitment process to reinforce its commitment
to the principle of equal opportunity.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy and considered that the Board Diversity Policy has
been properly implemented during the year under review and is effective.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company maintained an
effective Board comprising members of different professional background
and industry experience. The Board considers that the gender diversity
in respect of the Board taking into account the business model and
specific needs of the Company is satisfactory. The Company’s Board
Diversity Policy was consistently implemented. As at the date of this
annual report, the Board consists of seven Directors, six of them are
male and one of them is female. The Company has adopted to develop a
pipeline of potential successors to the board to achieve gender diversity.
The Company has taken the steps to achieve gender board diversity by
appointing one female director at the 2024 annual general meeting of the
Company held on 31 May 2024.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Opportunities for employment,
training and career development are equally open to all eligible employees
without discrimination. Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce
of the Group including Senior Management is approximately 8:2. The
Board considers that the gender diversity in workforce is currently
achieved.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Nominati

on Policy

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) on 14
June 2019. Below is the summary of the Nomination Policy:

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making selection and
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors, and
succession planning for Directors. The Nomination Policy set out the
procedures, process and criteria for the Nomination Committee in making
any such recommendations.

1. Principle and Guidelines

REEEEH)
REEE
BN T-NAFAATHARRRES

BER(TRABEK] - LTREABRZH

E:

REZESHDEEERETNRERET
AREMEESREEERER - REAERERH

SR B &

BEeaeh Tt EREEmE

o BIE R AEE -

1. RAIRES

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider
a variety of factors including without limitation the following in
assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

REZEGERZAEMB/IZEFSX
BRENZEEMBEEEFEXNERD
EEE o BERZREREZE - URHEHE
REANSHEN  BEETRRATE
=

The Board Diversity Policy.

Reputation for integrity.

Accomplishment and experience that are relevant to the
operations of the Company and its subsidiaries.

iv. ~ Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and
attention to the Company’s affairs.

v.  The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success.

vi.  Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Main Board Listing Rules for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director.

vii.  Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the

Committee or the Board from time to time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-
appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall be made
in accordance with the Articles of Association and other applicable

rules

and regulations.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Nomination Policy (continued)
2. Nomination Procedures
2.1 Procedures for Appointment of New Director
If the Board recognizes the need to appoint a new Director,
the following procedures should be adopted:

i The Nomination Committee identifies candidates in
accordance with the selection criteria set out in the
Nomination Policy.

ii. The Nomination Committee evaluates the candidates
and recommends to the Board the appointment of the
appropriate candidate for directorship.

ii. The Board decides the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

iv.  The key terms and conditions of the appointment
should be approved by the Remuneration Committee.

2.2 Procedures for Re-election of Director at General
Meeting
i. The Nomination Committee reviews the overall
contribution to the Company of the retiring Director.

ii. The Nomination Committee also reviews and
determines whether the retiring Director continues to
meet the selection criteria set out in the Nomination
Policy.

ii.  The Nomination Committee shall recommend to the
Board which shall then make recommendation to the
Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Nomination Policy (continued)

2.

Nomination Procedures (continued)

2.3 Procedures for Nomination by Shareholders

The Procedure for Election of Directors for
Shareholders’ nomination of any proposed candidate
for election as a Director is available on the Company’s
website.

The Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate based on the selection criteria set out in
the Nomination Policy and to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee shall
recommend to the Board which shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.

The Company Secretary shall ensure all disclosure obligations
under the Listing Rules regarding the appointment or re-
election of Directors are duly complied.

Review of the Policy

The Board will from time to time review the Nomination Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure its continued effectiveness
and compliance with regulatory requirements and good corporate
governance practice. The Board reserves the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the Nomination

Policy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference which have been updated from time to time to align with the
code provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee, chaired
by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises three members
namely Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi,
all of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter alia,
review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management procedures, as well as oversee the
adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting resources. While
recognised corporate governance is the collective responsibility of all
Directors, the Board has delegated the corporate governance functions
to the members of Audit Committee who are in an objective and
independent position to oversee the corporate governance compliance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
together with senior management and external auditor and two private
meetings with the external auditor without the management’s presence.
The attendance details of each member are set out on page 31. The
major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year included
reviewing interim and annual financial statements, internal audit reports
on the internal control and risk management matters, the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance as well as reviewing and
recommending re-appointment of external auditor.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy for employees to
raise concerns, in confidence, with the designated executive who is
accountable to the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, unlawful activities, or activities violating the Group’s
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise amounting to serious
improper conduct and to ensure protection from possible retaliation
against any of our employees who has reported concerns in good faith.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Anti-corruption Policy

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption Policy”)
on 18 March 2022. Below is the summary of the Anti-corruption Policy:

Purpose

The Company is committed to upholding high standards of business
integrity, honesty and transparency in all its business dealings. The
Company strictly prohibits any form of corruption, and is committed to
the prevention, deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
corruption. The Anti-corruption Policy applies to the Group, and to all
directors, officers and employees of the Group (which for these purposes
includes temporary or contract staff) (collectively the “Employees”), as
well as its Third Party Representatives (include amongst others, advisers,
agents, introducers and finders, consultants and political lobbyists).

Prohibition and Forms of Corruption
Employees are strictly prohibited (whether acting in their own capacity or
on behalf of the Group) from:

(@  offering, promising, giving or authorising, directly or indirectly, any
bribe or kickback to or for the benefit of any person (whether in
private or public office) in order to obtain any improper business or
other improper advantage for the Group;

(b)  soliciting, accepting or receiving (whether for the benefit of the
Group, their own benefit or that of their family, friends, associates
or acquaintances) any bribe or kickback from any person (whether
in private or public office) in return for providing any improper
business or other improper advantage in relation to the business of
the Group;

(c) otherwise using illegal or improper means (including bribes, favours,
blackmail, financial payments, inducements, secret commissions or
other rewards) to influence the actions of others; or

(d) acting as an intermediary for a third party in the solicitation,
acceptance, payment or offer of a bribe or kickback.

ERZEEg(#E)

RESBER
EEgRN_TE__F=-At+\BEHARES
BE(RESKHE]D - RESHEZHEN
T

RE
RARBOREMABEBERT@FSIRE
WRERBE  HELER -  ARAFEBEL
EREANESTR LR IRER - B8
#BRLFASRERANESTR - RE
PHRERANAER  AEBOMEES
SREBRABRES (ST E BEERRE
RtEE ) (SBIEE]) MREFE=FHKK
(B - RIBA - THEAMBEA - B
MBUAHEF

(a) EBEERZBEATMAERZLALIA
BAB)RBENZREMR  AF BT
SR BEEAHEHE - UER/LEE
REBEFAFTEEXRFLEMBTLEEF

(b)) EW - EXIWEB(ERESAEEZ
et RERARERA - Bk - B2
AN Z M) EMA(BRIELAKL
NBAB)MEMBEREEH - AR
LA B EBRPERN LS XK
HAAEE Mz

) NEMITAERFEIXTEFR(BHRE
Wi BE ¥R LEXN - FA
WMEMEHEMBH)ZEMANTT
V= I

(d ERE - ZX - AHEERRSKE
RREZNFTERHEA °

FEBERIREERAT | 41



Corporate Governance Report

1o 3

ERWE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)
Prohibition and Forms of Corruption (continued)

To minimise the risk of Third Party Representatives engaging in an
inappropriate conduct, relevant departments/Group companies should:

(@)

©)

always act with due care and diligence in selecting Third Party
Representatives and in monitoring their activities;

ensure that Third Party Representatives are aware of and respect
the Anti-Corruption Policy;

ensure that all fees and expenses paid to Third Party
Representatives represent appropriate and justifiable remuneration,
which is commercially reasonable under the circumstances, for
legitimate services rendered by the Third Party Representative; and

keep accurate financial records of all payments.

Business Courtesies

Business gifts and hospitality (“Business Courtesies”) are customary
courtesies designed to build goodwill among business partners. Business
Courtesies must comply with the following principles:

(@)

(b)

42

they must be reasonable and not excessive;

they must be of modest value, both in isolation and when
considered in the context of other gifts and hospitality offered;

they must be appropriate and consistent with reasonable business
practice;

they must be provided with the intent only to build or maintain
a business relationship or offer normal courtesy, rather than to
influence the recipient’s objectivity in making a specific business
decision;

they should never be offered in return for financial or personal gain
or favour; and

they must be permissible under all applicable laws, rules and
regulations. When dealing with a public official, the official’s country
will often have laws imposing limits on the level of hospitality
and gifts which can be accepted, and those laws must be
strictly adhered to. When dealing with the private sector, gifts or
hospitality should not exceed any limits imposed by the recipient’s
organisation.
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hEERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Procurement of Goods and Services by the Group and Other
Business Partners

The Group is committed to dealing with its customers and suppliers
in a fair, honest and professional manner, while seeking best value for
the business. Potential suppliers are treated on an equal basis and no
unmerited favouritism is to be shown in the procurement of goods and
services. The Group conducts its procurement practices in a fair and
transparent manner and Employees must act with due care and diligence
when evaluating prospective contractors and suppliers.

The Group will not deal with contractors and suppliers and other
potential business partners known to be paying bribes and/or engaging
in corrupt activity. Appropriate levels of diligence are to be conducted
by adequately skilled persons in the selection and renewal of new and
existing contractors and suppliers and other business partners (such as a
joint venture partner) commensurate with the bribery risk associated with
a particular relationship.

Reporting of Corruption and Suspicious Activity

If an Employee becomes aware of any actual or suspected breach of
this Policy, he/she must report such incidents in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Guideline which provides a mechanism for Employees
and those who deal with the Group to raise concerns on any suspected
impropriety, misconduct or malpractice through confidential reporting
channels.

Employees are actively encouraged to report any concerns regarding
corruption. The Internal Audit & Risk Management team and the
Company Secretary team are responsible to ensure that such complaints
are logged, investigated and appropriate action is taken. All reports of
suspected corruption are to be investigated and appropriate sanctions
employed. Complaints are to be treated confidentially to the extent
possible, and Employees raising legitimate concerns in good faith are to
be protected; retaliation of any kind against any Employee for making
good faith reports about actual or suspected violation of the Anti-
corruption Poalicy is not permitted.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Whistle-blowing Policy

The Board adopted a whistle-blowing policy (the “Whistle-blowing
Policy”) on 26 September 2012. Below is the summary of the Whistle-
blowing Policy:

Purpose

In order to enable the employees of the Group to raise concerns, in
confidence, with the senior management about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, unlawful activities, or activities violating the Group’s
Code of Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise amounting to serious
improper conduct (“Malpractice or Misconduct”), the Group has set up
the guidelines on reporting such concerns. The aims of this guideline are
to provide channels for our employees to raise concerns and to ensure
protection for our employees from possible retaliation against any of our
employees who has reported concerns in good faith.

Duty to Report

It is an employee’s duty to report if he or she believes in good faith that
certain Malpractice or Misconduct has taken place or is in progress. The
concern should be raised as soon as possible with the Head of Internal
Audit Department (the “Designated Executive”).

Once the report is received, the Designated Executive will make initial
enquiries to determine whether an investigation is appropriate. An
investigation may include internal reviews, reviews by the external
auditors or lawyers or some other external body depending on the nature
of the concern.

The Audit Committee is the primary corporate body governing matters
relating to Group’s business conduct and ethics and reports on concerns
therewith. Accountable to the Audit Committee, the Designated Executive
shall report immediately to the Audit Committee once an allegation on
Malpractice or Misconduct is received. The Audit Committee shall be
responsible for making decision on investigation strategies, tactics and
action plans. The Designated Executive shall carry out the action plans
and report to the Audit Committee on status of investigation, follow-up
actions and conclusions of any investigation.
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hEERRE

AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

Anonymous Reports

All reports will be treated in confidence. Every effort will be made
to protect the complainant’s identity with appropriate assurance of
confidentiality. However, under certain circumstances, to assist with the
investigation the individual’s identity may become known or needs to be
revealed.

The Group encourages employees to identify themselves or leave their
mode of contact in their report of concerns for the reason that follow-up
enquiries and investigation may not be possible unless the source of the
information is identified.

The Whistle-blowing Policy is intended to encourage and enable
employees to raise concerns about Malpractice or Misconduct. The
Group will not retaliate and will not allow any of its employees to retaliate
against any other employee who has reported any concern. No employee
who, in good faith, reports a concern shall be subject to retaliation or
adverse employment consequences. Any allegation of retaliation should
be reported immediately to the office of the Designated Executive, and
the Group will take swift response to it, including investigation and, once
confirmed, immediate disciplinary action against any violators.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Executive Committee with the key
initiatives to manage the Group’s business activities, and oversee
the operating performance and financial position of the Group and
all strategic business units. The Executive Committee comprises all
Executive Directors and chaired by Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met regularly
to review the performance of various business units of the Group,
coordinate overall resources, made financial and operation decisions
delegated by the Board, review and develop investment strategy and
policies of the Company and make relevant recommendations to the
Board.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES, DELEGATION AND
BOARD PROCESSES

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors and executives
of the Company, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive
Directors and executives meet regularly to review the performance of the
businesses of various business units of the Group as a whole, coordinate
overall resources and make financial and operation decisions. The Board
also gives clear directions as to their powers of management including
circumstances where management should report back, and will review
the delegation arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they
remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries, the Company
has obtained confirmation from all Directors that they have complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to the securities of the Group,
on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which give a true and
fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors
have adopted generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong
and suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting

responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 94 to 100.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR RELATED
MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided to the Group by the auditor amounted to
approximately HK$790,000 and HK$120,000 respectively. The non-audit
services consist of interim results review. The provision of these services
by external auditors to the Company and the Group were cost effective
and efficient due to their knowledge and understanding of the operations
of the Company and the Group.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The training programmes included seminars and
courses, reviewed the updated laws, rules and regulations and materials
on topics relevant to the director’s duties and responsibilities. The
Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable training for
its Directors. Accordingly, the Company has put in place a training and
development programme for the Directors including: (i) a comprehensive
induction programme on the laws and regulations affecting directors and
the Company, business operations, knowledge and current development
of the banking and finance industry and the role, responsibilities and
potential liabilities of directors for newly appointed Directors; and (i) an
on-going training and professional development programme for the
Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

A summary of training received by Directors during the year ended 31
December 2024 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
follows:

ESRIIREXREE)

RIEEFREZEICE  EFREE-F
“HE+ A=+ -BIEFEERER ZE
MELT :

Training on corporate governance,
regulatory development and
other relevant topics

Name of Directors EEHS TEER  EERREREMEBEEZIZI
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric =5 A 4
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau RERT(R=ZF=-mF

(appointed on 31 May 2024) AA=F+—HEZT) v
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EEREAE v
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FERELE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo BRGNS & v
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan HEEE 4
Mr. ZHANG Songyi REFELAE v

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest developments
in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. In addition, the Directors
are regularly encouraged to enroll in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars regarding the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements to enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

The Directors have confirmed and provided to the Company their records
of training received during the year. All Directors of the Company namely
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric, Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau, Mr. WONG Jake Leong,
Sammy, Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. TIAN
Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi complied with Code Provision C.1.4 of
the CG Code during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness, while management
is charged with the responsibility to design, implement and monitor the
risk management and internal control systems to manage risks and
compliance.

Risk Management Model
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REREERABEE
EEQARERAREZAREERABE
BRG TRAEAY MERBARER
i T RERER EIE KA HEE RGN
ERRRRARER -

R E AN

The Board/Audit Committee E5€ B ZEEE

Senior Management SR EEfE
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(Own and Manage Risks) (Oversee Risks)

(Independent Assurance)
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Financial Control B 758542
Management e
Control , o Internal Audit
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SERE S e

Compliance & EE

As the first line of defense, operational management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk and control
procedures on day-to-day operation. Management of Head Office
establishes various risk management and compliance functions to
provide direction on the importance of risk management and monitor the
first line of defense controls. The Internal Audit and Risk Management
(“IARM”) Department reviews and provides independent assurance on
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.
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EERERE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Internal Control Framework

The Group has in place an integrated internal control framework that is
consistent with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of

R EE R AR (E)

RERES SRR
A& B B % 3 ECOSO (Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway

Commission)E 28 — B 2 4R & W BB BE 4 48

®ERMT :

the Treadway Commission) framework as illustrated below:

Control Environment

EEPRIRIR

Set the right tone of the Group influencing control consciousness and risk awareness of the staff.

BV ASEBEFENEGER  LRtEENEESZNERRA -

Factors include integrity, ethical values, competence, delegation of authority and responsibility.

HMEBARST  EREE BEe)  RERETHEEZAEE -

Foundation for all other components of internal control.

YERFTA A M BP B AR BE 5 O BB o

Risk Assessment

| B 5 Ak

Identification, evaluation and analysis of the key risks underlying the achievement of the Group’s objectives,
including the risks relating to the changing regulatory and operating environment; conducted regularly, forming the
basis for determining control activities.

TEHHEMN AR EERASEAREEN I ERAR(BEAREE EERE
R T B R B ) AL o

Control Activities

EEIEER

Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out and necessary actions are taken to
address the risks that may hinder the achievement of the Group’s objectives.

HEHRRRRER  BREEEBZERUBITURKRBRLETHRENSZEAEEENAR AR -
Control activities include authorisations, approvals, verifications, performance reviews, segregation of duties, asset
security, access control, documentation and records.
ERTHeERE Bt KB Bdms BRI  EERE -
Information and Communication

BERNBR

Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right person in a timely manner.

ERER R KAEES AT REEEER -

Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties are established.
BYRNEBZIPIEAREINAAL 2 BEERE -

Channels of communication exist for people to report suspected malpractices or improprieties relating to the Group.
HREMPREREREHAFNERFMHATBTRARLBBEERE -

Monitoring

=

{Ery R R) - A LEIE

FEURS - XA FE R EF o

o 2N

Combination of ongoing and separate evaluations of control system’s performance.
518 I MR Bl RT (4 B R R AREVAE R ©

Management and supervisory activities.

EIMRERTE -

Internal audit activities.

WEPEIZTAE ©
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Control Environment

The actions of management and its demonstrated commitment to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices within the
Group are transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all business
affairs based on good business ethics and accountability. We have in
place a formal Code of Conduct & Business Ethics that is communicated
to all staff members. We aim to build risk awareness and control
responsibility into our culture and regard them as the foundation of our
risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
monitor the Group’s ability to achieve its business objectives; and
can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material

misstatement or loss.

We maintain an effective internal audit function, the IARM Department,
whose main features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every
operation of the Group;

(i)  adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff;

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks or
where significant changes have been made.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Risk Management

Management has an ongoing process to identify and evaluate the
significant risks facing the Group and to prioritise resources to manage
those that arise. Mitigation strategies and plans with respect to each key
risk identified are developed and implemented with regular review and
update, which include establishing or enhancing internal controls.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units regularly review
and analyse the key risks associated with achieving the objectives of their
particular departments, activities and businesses to provide reasonable
assurance that internal controls are both embedded and effective within
their areas of accountability.

Control Processes

The Board maintains sound and effective risk management and internal
control systems through the following:

(i) The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans and objectives on
an annual basis.

(i)  An organisational structure with defined lines of responsibility and
delegation of authority is devised.

(i)  Systems and procedures are in place to identify and evaluate risks
on an ongoing basis. Senior executives review the risk assessment
process and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

(iv)  Appropriate policies and key control activities are maintained with
regular review on their effectiveness.

(v)  Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances

being accounted for and appropriate actions taken to rectify
deficiencies.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONTINUED)

Control Processes (continued)

(vii Senior executives ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, standards and ordinances, including Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, the Listing Rules and the
Companies Ordinance, under their responsibility.

(vi)  The IARM Department reports directly to the Audit Committee and
the CEO, and carries out independent reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems in accordance with its annual audit plan approved
by the Audit Committee. Key audit findings and implementation
progress of internal control recommendations are regularly
reported to the Board through the Audit Committee. Head of the
IARM Department also serves as the contact person under the
Whistleblowing Guideline of the Company.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Effectiveness

The Executive Directors of the Company conduct reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, and submit to the Audit Committee a certification of compliance
for effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations bi-
annually. The scope of this review covers the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions,
as well as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) performance and reporting.

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations, and
opinion of the IARM Department on the performance of risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. External auditor also reports
on any control issues identified in the course of their audit work.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Effectiveness (continued)

Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems at least once each year and reports to the Board on such
reviews.

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed and considered
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems effective and
adequate for the year ended 31 December 2024. No significant areas of
concern that might affect the operational, financial, compliance, and ESG
controls and risk management function of the Group were identified.

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory
regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of
inside information, announcements and financial disclosures and
authorises their publication as required.

(i)  has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

(i)  has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the
securities transactions of those employees who, because of
their positions, are likely to have access to confidential or inside
information.

(iv) identifies and authorises members of the Group’s senior

management to act as the Company’s spokespersons and respond
to external enquiries.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and CEO on Board or
committee matters. He is an employee of the Company. All Directors
have direct access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
for the ongoing discharge of their duties and responsibilities. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary took
more than 15 hours of relevant professional training organised by the
Stock Exchange and various professional bodies.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS OF THE COMPANY

On 31 December 2023, the Listing Rules were amended by
implementing the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers. Before the
annual general meeting on 31 May 2024, the Board proposed to make
certain amendments to the Articles of Association for the purpose of,
among others, (i) reflect and align with the latest regulatory requirement
in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and the electronic
dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect from
31 December 2023; and (i) align with other relevant requirements of the
Listing Rules and company law of the Cayman lIslands and incorporate
certain corresponding and housekeeping amendments. Accordingly, the
Board proposes to amend the Second Amended and Restated Articles
of Association in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Articles of
Association. On 31 May 2024, a special resolution was passed at the
annual general meeting to amend the Second Amended and Restated
Articles of Association.

The Company has published its updated and consolidated version of
Memorandum and Articles of Association at the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 14 June
2019. Below is the summary of the Dividend Policy:

The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and guidelines that
the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration of dividends
and to allow Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
retaining adequate reserves for the future growth of the Group.

The Board shall consider the following factors before proposing and
declaring dividends:

i. the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

ii. retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the members of the Group;

ii.  the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

iv.  the Group’s expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

V. general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

vi.  any other factors that the Board deem relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the laws of Cayman Islands, the Articles
of Association and any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy. There can be no assurance that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board adopted a shareholder communication policy (the
“Shareholders Communication Policy”) on 18 March 2022. Below is the
summary of the Shareholders Communication Policy:

The Shareholders Communication Policy aims to set out the principles of
the Company in relation to the shareholders’ communications, with the
objective of ensuring timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the shareholders and the Company.

Shareholders Meeting

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the Company
are the primary communication forum between the Company and the
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings physically or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at such
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend.

Notices of the general meetings, related circulars and forms of proxy
are provided within a prescribed time prior to the general meetings on
HKEx's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website (www.
cre987.com) and by post to the Shareholders.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board and the relevant
committees members and external auditor will attend the general
meetings physically or via. zoom or via. any other means of electronic
communication to answer the Shareholders’ questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the resolutions
(except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or administrative
matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of Association. Scrutineer
will be appointed for the vote-taking at the general meetings and the
voting results will be published on the HKEx's website (www.hkexnews.
hk) and the Company’s website (www.cre987.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY
(CONTINUED)

Corporate Communication

Corporate Communications, as defined in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities at the Main Board on the HKEX, includes (i) the
directors’ report and the annual accounts together with a copy of the
auditor’s report; (i) the interim report; (i) a notice of meeting; (iv) a listing
document; (v) a circular; and (vi) a proxy form.

Shareholders can elect to receive the Corporate Communications in the
printed form or through electronic means and in the language(s) selected
(either English or Chinese or both). Shareholders who have elected to
receive the Corporate Communications by electronic means have the
right to obtain printed copies of the Corporate Communications free of
charge.

Shareholders are encouraged to provide their up-to-date contact details
to the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong in order to
facilitate timely and effective communications.

Company’s Website

The Company’s website (www.cre987.com) provides the Shareholders
with corporate information on the Company and its subsidiaries. It also
provides information on corporate governance of the Group and the
compositions and functions of the board of directors and the board
committees of the Company.

In addition to the “Investor Relations” section in which Corporate
Communications of the Company are posted as soon as practicable

following their release on the HKEx's website (www.hkexnews.hk).

Information on the Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY
(CONTINUED)

Communication with the Company

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the directors and
management of the Company. Such questions, requests, comments and
suggestions can be addressed to the Company by post to 9/F., Tower
1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong
Kong or via telephone at (852) 2731 0000 or via email at info@cre987.
com.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, by post to 17M Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong or via telephone
at (852) 2862 8555 or via online at www.computershare.com/hk/en/
online_feedback.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy including steps
taken at the general meetings, the handling of queries received (if any)
and the multiple channels of communication and engagement in place,
and considered that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been
properly implemented during the year under review and is effective.
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GENERAL MEETING

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 31 May
2024 (the “2024 AGM”). The Chairman and CEO chaired the 2024 AGM.
The external auditor attended the 2024 AGM to answer questions about
the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s
report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

Non-executive directors’ attendance at general meetings is important. An
independent non-executive director is often the chairman or a member
of board committees and as such, the individual should be accountable
to shareholders by being available to respond to questions and enquiries
in relation to their work. Without attending general meetings, the director
will not be able to develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders.

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the 2024 AGM is set
out in the table below:
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2024 AGM

Attended

HE—Z-MFE

Name of Directors EENA BRREFRE
Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric WA v
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau E L

(appointed on 31 May 2024) (R=ZFZpFaA=+—HEZE) v

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy HER LA v

Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FEREE v

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo Lifp e 4

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan BE)I%&E v

Mr. ZHANG Songyi SROAZE & v
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SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders can put forward their proposals at an extraordinary
general meeting. Procedures for the Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting is provided for under Article 58 of the
Articles of Association.

Under Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any member(s)
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition (“Requisitionists”). The written request
must state the resolution, preferably accompanied by a statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to the matter
referred to in the proposed resolution for the Company’s reference
and consideration, signed by the all Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the head office of the
Company at 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrars”). Upon the Branch Share Registrars’ confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Company will convene an
extraordinary general meeting within two months after the deposit
of such requisition, and will serve sufficient notice in accordance
with the statutory and regulatory requirements to all members of
the Company.

Procedures for election of directors of the Company

The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available and accessible on the
Company’s website at www.cre987.com.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board believes regular and timely communication with Shareholders
forms part of the Group’s effort to help our Shareholders understand
our business better. Copies of the annual reports and interim reports
of the Company are distributed to the Shareholders in accordance
with statutory and regulatory requirements and also to interested
parties recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications of the
Company, including financial reports, circulars and announcements, are
also available on the Company’s website at www.cre987.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the Shareholders. At the general meeting,
each substantially separate issue is considered by a separate resolution,
including election of individual Directors, and the poll procedures are
clearly explained. The Chairman and CEO, other members of the Board,
the Chairmen of the relevant Board Committees and the external auditor
of the Company attended the annual general meeting to interface with,
and answer questions from the Shareholders.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the following ways:

Post : 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail .  info@cre987.com

Fax: (852) 2722 1323
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R - HERERRS

REPORTING GUIDELINES

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or “CRE”,
and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is pleased to present
its annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) with disclosure reference made to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as contained
in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The ESG Report covers the financial year ended 31
December 2024.

This ESG Report describes the Group’s environmental, social and
governance management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives.
It explains how the Group complies with the mandatory disclosure
requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide. This ESG Report covers the Group’s governance on
the Environmental and Social aspect. The corporate governance aspect
is addressed in more details in the Corporate Governance Report.

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector since
2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental protection
and support for the low carbon development of China. CRE strives to
continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy sector to
adapt to the changing expectations of our stakeholders while balancing
the needs of our shareholders, environment and the communities we
operate in. The Board has reviewed and approved the ESG strategy and
reporting for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This report is solely prepared by the Company. The Board and senior
management, to their best knowledge, have monitored and guarantee
the completeness, reliability, authenticity and objectivity of the information
included in this report, and update the ESG disclosure practice based
on the changing standards and the Company’s business operation. We
also hope to strengthen our communication with the stakeholders and
increase the transparency of the Company through the publication of
this report, to achieve economic, social and environmentally sustainable
development.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES (continued)

We have applied the following reporting principles in preparing the ESG
report:

1. Materiality: in identifying and assessing the environmental, social
and governance issues that have a material impact on the
ESG report, we have performed substantial assessments and
researches by ways of, among others, communicating with relevant
stakeholders and viewing historical documents and information,
and, in line with the Group’s mission and vision as well as the core
items of the ESG report. The Board has determined the relevant
ESG issues as disclosed in the ESG Report which are sufficiently
important to investors and other stakeholders that they should be
reported.

2. Quantitative: We have established the management system in terms
of social responsibility and environmental protection based on our
own business characteristics so as to enhance the Company’s
ESG policies and management system. We actively strengthen
our ESG performance by consistently reviewing and improving
our management systems. We endeavor to promote the culture of
environmental protection and social responsibility so as to facilitate
the incorporation of the ESG concept into the business operation
and promote the sustainable development of the Company. The
key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are measurable in accordance
with the actual numerical figures or forward-looking statements.
The quantitative information contained in this ESG Report is
accompanied by a narrative statement and ESG impacts.

3. Balance: Our ESG report provides an objective and unbiased
picture of our business performance. The report avoids selections,
omissions or presentation formats that might inappropriately
influence a decision of or judgment by the report reader.

4. Consistency: Our ESG Report has applied and will continue using
consistent methodologies to allow for meaningful comparisons of
ESG information and data over time. There is no change to the
methods or KPIs used affecting a meaningful comparison in our
ESG Report.
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RiE  HERERBRS

REPORTING SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

The reporting scope is aligned with the accounting consolidation basis,
that is, only the consolidated affiliated entities are included in the report.
Unless otherwise stated, the reporting scope of this report covers the
Group’s wind farm projects located at Mudanjiang, Muling, Siziwangqi
Phase | & Phase Il, Songxian and distributed solar project located at
Nanxun, all are located at the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

Unless otherwise stated, the reporting period of this report is from
1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024, which is tantamount to the
reporting period covered in the Annual Report 2024.

REPORTING BOUNDARY

Following the updated reporting requirements of the Stock Exchange, the
Group has carefully evaluated its business entities and operations based
on the principle of materiality, and considered its core business and main
revenue sources. The scope of this ESG Report includes the Group’s
offices in Hong Kong and windfarms at Mudanjiang, Muling, Siziwangaqi
Phase | & Phase I, Songxian and distributed solar project at Nanxun. The
Group’s operations in PRC are accountable for majority of the Group’s
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

ESG matters and reporting are overseen by the Board. The Board
periodically conducts ESG assessment by identifying potential impacts,
risks, and opportunities posed to the operation, reviews senior
management and functional departments’ competence in executing ESG
responsibilities.

The Group has the relevant departments to collect information, fill in
and report data through, among others, questionnaires and researches.
The Board has identified, reviewed and assessed the ESG management
approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate, priorities
and manage material ESG-related issues, including the ESG risks to the
renewable energy business of the Group. The Board has examined and
assessed our performance in various aspects within the ESG scope such
as environmental, employment and other social aspects. The Board has
reviewed the progress made against ESG-related goals and targets by
benchmarking against the ESG data within the industry and segmenting
objectives and ensure the effectiveness of the ESG risk control.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In view of the relevance and validity of the ESG Report with the Group’s
environmental and social performance, the Group has conducted a
materiality assessment to identify ESG issues that are material to the
business of the Group and its stakeholders. The Group has assessed the ¥R 3E -
principal operation of the renewable energy business, which include wind
power projects and distributed solar project, to identify the material ESG
factors in reference with the stakeholder engagement. The material ESG

issues as identified by the Group include:

The ESG Reporting Guide
RIE HERERMERESD

EEMFME

ERAREENEENIRER LSRR
FAERERE  AEECETERMFEN
BB AEEEBNENSRNEBERN
HERERERE AKEEHEAB
HRBREBNIELLENRN  BRANEE
BIRBRDMAKGEER  U2ENa
FHE2HEBEFERNRE L REBHE

R AREBINEEZRE  HEMERE
8ETE

Material Issues
EEEE

Environment

RIE

A1. Emission

Al EER

A2. Use of Resources

A2. BIRERA

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources
A3. R R RKAEIR

A4. Climate Change

A4 BIRE (L

Social

#HeE

B1. Employment

B1. &M%

B2. Health and Safety

B2. EEEHZ R

B3. Development and Training
B3. & E &IEH

B4. Labour Standards

B4. %5 T8

B5. Supply Chain Management
BS. ftEE & IR

B6. Product Responsibility
B6.EmEE

B7. Anti-corruption

B7. X&5

B8. Community Investment
B8. it @R &

For the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Group confirmed
that it has established appropriate management systems for ESG issues
and confirmed that the disclosed contents comply with the requirements

of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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Emissions Control

BEpsdzE il

Energy Management

gEIRE 12

The Environment and Natural Resources
RIRRARAREIR

Climate Change

RIREL

Employment Practice

(RN

Occupational Health and Safety

BEERELT S

Employees’ Continuous Development

BEZRHEER

Labour Standards

4 TR

Supply Chain Management

HrEsEEIR

Product Quality

EmEE

Anti-corruption

RES

Corporate Social Responsibility
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Creating value for our stakeholders has always been the core mission of
the Group. The Group pays attention to the demands and expectations
of its stakeholders, including our customers, investors, suppliers,
employees and communities, in the course of developing business.
The Group values the trust and support from stakeholders as they are
critical to the Group’s sustainable development. The Group strives to
maintain open and smooth communication channels for both internal and
external stakeholders. Through regular and effective communications,
stakeholders can better understand the Group’s input and achievements.
Meanwhile, the Group can also access stakeholders’ opinions and
integrate their opinions into the Group’s management policies or strategic
planning to continuously improve our business operations.

In view of the renewable energy business of the Group, below is the
summary of the Group’s stakeholder communication mechanism:-

%Uﬁ?‘fﬁ% //\
RAANEFNEAEBE EEARENZL

- AEBERREHERS  BHIF
F&REHE HER BEEMLEFMER
MENTFRMBPE - AEBEBRMRFHD
METNXR  EAREFHASENARKE
LREMEE - XEBEB N RAEERINEF
BRNERFHARRESHBERRE - BB
EHEMNER NamnEAAEFMHT
fRANEEHRAMBKRE - R NEEHA
NEBRHNEHNENER  ITHREFNER
MAREENEERRLRBRE - AT
BOER PN EFRES -

ENASENAIBLERRER U TRAE
BMEF D EBBEHINOHE

Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Key Communication Channels
Mo E HMEMER FTEBERE
Shareholders . Return on investment Annual and extraordinary general meetings,
&5 & O 3R financial reports, announcements and circulars,
° Dividend payment company website, email communication via.
i B B info@cre987.com, investor relations enquiry
e Shareholders’ protection REBFRGRREFNRE - UHRE - A
BR AR R - AR - BiIBEI info@cre987.
e Transparency and communication com - HEEBEREN
FRENRER
° Corporate governance and compliance
PEREBEAR
Employees ° Remuneration and benefits Competitive salaries and staff benefits,
2= e D=l remuneration administrative measures, training
° Long-term career development and development, seminars, employee activities,
REBREER employees’ counselling, health & safety
e Job satisfaction and motivation management system and regular performance
TEmEERE S appraisal, intranet
e Occupational health & safety ﬁ B —¥* THHEMEETREA - HHMEERE
BERELT e FIFIER - G ﬁa\ﬁc@b BE#&

° Equal opportunities and diversity

FEHERZ T

a’ﬁ] fﬁ_liéﬁizz
B 49

EHERLTHEREZ A
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

NEFOESHEE)

Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Key Communication Channels

MEfFmE HEMER FEBERE

Customers e Customer experience Customer satisfaction survey, email
=P KPR communication via. info@cre987.com, customer

° Product quality and reliability
EmEs kA FEH
e  Feedbacks and complaints handling

RERIEFERE
Suppliers and e Supplier appointment
Contractors HEREZT
HEE A BERE e Performance of contract with ethics and
integrity

BB ENTAEITER
° Stable business relationship

S IE R RAR

e Fair operating practices and competition
NEEEBO R AFHEFE

Government and ° Compliance with national policies, laws and
Regulators regulations
DT Ko Ba W BFERBER  ARIER
° Urban development
VTR
° Tax payment in full and on time
1R B BB AR
Community ° Enhancement of community environment
Pl BB IRIR

° Environmental protection

R

e (Offer of employment opportunities

REHIERSE
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complaint channel and project’s community
activity

EFPMmEEHAZLZ - BB E Hinfo@credsd7.
com BEFRFRBRIBEHRES

Procurement and tendering process, supplier
monitoring and assessment, site visit, timely
payment schedule, fulfiiment of obligations
under any contract and supplier's conference
KRB LARRER - HEREE NG BinE
2 ERNREREK  BITEAERIETHE
BRHERE =

Information reporting, filings & notices,
government project, legal advisor
BREE BERIBAY - BUTIER - AEER

Company website, community investment plan,
green energy operations, ESG report

NEE - HERREGFE - RERREYE R
5% g kEams
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BRE

CHERERRS

INFORMATION AND FEEDBACK

Shareholders, investors and the public can access the latest business
information on the website of the Group (http://www.cre987.com). The
Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our ESG approach and
performance. Please provide us with your suggestions or share your
views with the Group by the following ways:

Post:

E-mail:

Fax:

9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

info@cre987.com

(852) 2722 1323

ENVIRONMENTAL

Emissions

The Group has 738 MW of operating wind farms and a distributed
solar project in Gansu, Hebei, Heilongjiang, Henan, Inner Mongolia
and Zhejiang provinces. Most of our projects are located in remote
northern regions. They greatly benefit the economic development
of the local areas through investment, by reducing local pollution
and carbon emissions, and by contributing to the local community
through the hiring of local staff who are given fair market-based
remuneration packages. In 2024, CRE’s operating assets complied
with all local environmental related regulatory requirements. With
a total electricity generation of 1,327.6 GWh, we have reduced
approximately 430,000 tons of coal consumption and 1,028,000
tons of carbon emission.

ERR KR

BR - REERMESARTRBANEEML
(http://www.cre987.com) J& BX &% 3 ¥ & &
Ko REBMEMF RO ERBMAIRE -
HERERAAERKRERMKRE - F@BIA
THRARERMREHRENEZRERAEES Z
RS

By BENERDEREME 755 M F
L — BN

FE ©  info@cre987.com

fHH : (852) 2722 1323

A. RIE

BER D

AEBEEHE L - 25T AR
NEHMNTELHEE 738 KRS
BESR—EAIMHAKGEEER - K3
SEEHMARENILBHE - REE
BEMREHLESERE - B8RS EH
5 R R Ak BERR - A0 3% BR A T 89 T 35 5 B
ERAEWET  BREMHEE RN _F
TFE B BERERNBEEERS
EMATERBEHBESIEN - RFIHE
BEEAR132716HEE - B ERE
(A T 38 4 49 430,000 ME - AR HF I 2 R4
1,028,000 1§ ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Emissions (continued)

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their
expectations. As one of the main foreign investors in China’s
renewable energy industry, we continue to maintain close contacts
with our stakeholders, including but not limited to the Government
(e.g. the NDRC and NEA at both national and provincial level),
local authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau) and State
Grid Corporation through various meetings to facilitate their
understanding of our business, operations and development
direction.

The Group will continue to support the goal to decrease carbon
emissions by investing in various renewable energy projects. At the
same time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the
communities we operate in as the Group grows larger and more
profitable.

Under the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the data on emissions, direct
(Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions,
total hazardous waste, total non-hazardous waste and description
of emission target(s) set and handle hazardous and non-hazardous
waste and a description of reduction target(s) set.

As the principal activity of the Company is renewable energy
business (including wind power and distributed solar energy
business), the Company viewed that the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6 of the
ESG Reporting Guide are not material to the principal activities of
the Company and have not disclosed in this report.

Use of Resources

The Group aims at reducing the environmental impact of its
operations by identifying and adopting measures to improve energy
and resource efficiency. The Group is committed to incorporating
the concepts of resources conservation and environmental
protection into its business operations, and to effectively utilising
resources, reducing wastage, and controlling wastes generation
in its business and production processes to achieve resource
optimisation, to promote environmental protection, and to reduce
operating costs. The Group does not generate any hazardous
waste and water consumption is minimal.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

The Group actively implements the concept of energy-saving
and maintain efficient use of resources. To achieve this target,
the Group has also formulated rules and regulations to achieve
electricity conservation and efficient use of electricity among a
range of lighting, machinery and equipment, and air-conditioning
equipment. The Group applies the following energy saving
measures in the workplace:

e Lights and electrical appliances in living area or workplace
must be turned off when not in use.

. Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in
the meeting room and the computer at the workstation when
it is not in use.

e  The room temperature is maintained at 25° C to save
energy.

e Video and telephone conferencing instead of face-to-face
meetings are arranged where possible.

° The Group encourages employees to reduce the use of paper
by assessing the necessity of printing, by encouraging duplex
printing where appropriate, and by reusing the blank side of
single-side printed paper.

Under the KPIs A2.1 to A2.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide, as
only a minimum amount of electricity and water were used for
renewable energy business, KPIs A2.1 (energy consumption in
total and intensity), A2.2 water consumption in total and intensity),
A2.3 (description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved) and A2.4 (description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and
results achieved) are immaterial to the Group’s operation. For the
Group’s wind power projects in 2024, the energy consumption
and water consumption of wind power projects at Heilongjiang
was 220,278KWh (2023: 258,669KWHh) in total and 240 tonnes
(20283: 240 tonnes) in total respectively. The energy consumption
of wind power project at Siziwangqgi was 385,317.68KWh (2023:
336,647.21KWh) in total. The energy consumption and water
consumption of wind power project at Songxian was 12,817KWh
(2023: 13,222KWh) in total and 89m?® (2023: 90m?) in total
respectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Use of Resources (continued)

Further, as no packaging material was used in the Group’s
operation, KPI A2.5 (total packaging material used for finished
products) is not applicable to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group pursues best practices with the environment and
focuses on the impact of its operations on the environment and
natural resources. The Group has also integrated the concept of
environmental protection into its internal management and daily
operation activities and is committed to achieving the goal of
environmental sustainability.

The main resources used by the Group in its daily operations are
energy consumption and water consumption, which have been
described in the section headed “Use of Resources” of aspect A2.
Apart from that, the Group will not use other natural resources in
large quantities.

The Group’s environmental impact and the use of natural resources
have always been highly valued and it hopes to identify and
mitigate the impact by considering sustainable development in
all of its affairs. The Group assesses the potential environmental
impacts to understand the footprint identification and measurement
management at the frontline level. The energy generation facilities
of the Group use the natural resources of wind and solar in this
power generation. The Group conducts emergency planning and
exercises to reduce the risk of accidents and maintain its business
continuity.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related issues, therefore, the
Group is committed to managing the potential climate-related
risks which may impact the Group’s business activities. The Board
has identified and evaluated climate-related risks and to formulate
strategies to manage the identified risks.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

Climate Change (continued)

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather such
as storms and heavy rains can disrupt the Group’s operations,
leading to reduced capacity and decreased in productivity, or
expose the Group to risks associated with non-performance and
delayed performance. The Group has precautionary measures
to minimise the potential risks and hazards. The Group also
anticipates that there will be more stringent climate legislations and
regulations to support the global vision of carbon neutrality. From
a listed company’s perspective, we acknowledge the increasing
requirements of climate-related information disclosures. One
example is the recent update of the Stock Exchange’s ESG Guide
in respect to significant climate-related impact disclosures of an
issuer. Stricter environmental laws and regulations may expose
enterprises to higher risks of claims and lawsuits. Corporate
reputation may also decline due to failure to meet the compliance
requirements for climate change. In response to the policy and legal
risks as well as the reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors
existing and emerging trends, policies and regulations relevant
to climate to avoid cost increments, non-compliance fines and
reputational risks.

SOCIAL

The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over the
years, the Group has put considerable effort to provide a safe and
healthy staff environment for its employees. The Group offers a
comprehensive and competitive package of benefits to attract and
retain talent.

Employment

The Group has adopted an “Employee Handbook” which sets
out the practices and policies of human resources. The Employee
Handbook is in compliance with the PRC Labour law, PRC Labour
Contract Law, the Hong Kong employment laws and other relevant
employment laws and regulations. The Employee Handbook
covers areas such as compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, diversity, and other policies
for the benefit of the employees of the Company.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Employment (continued)

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not
discriminate on the basis of personal characteristics. Regardless of
race, color, descent, ethnic background, ethnic origin, gender, age,
nationality, disability, veteran status, citizenship and religion, all job
applicants and current employees enjoy equal opportunities and
fair treatment. The Group values the input and contributions made
by employees of all backgrounds.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has complied
with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to employment.

Under the KPIs B1.1 to B1.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the total workforce by gender,
employment type, age group and geographical region and
employee turnover rate. Below are the details of the employment
data of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024:

teE)

EfE&)
AEBEDRETERENEE TR
BREANES - BRiEk B m%
NS Eﬁiﬁ MR - Fhe
%*%ﬁ‘ﬁﬁﬁA%ﬁ‘@Eﬁ%&
T FTELERBARBBEE
HEBEFERSRATFS FAEEE
RESSENEENMARBESELS
Y

BE_T-_WE+_A=1t—HL*F
B AEECDETHE EREBAEBNR
ARG -

RIBIRE g REAMEIESI MR
BRIEEB1IAEB1.2  "ARIARME
B~ R IEEER - FHAE B M b I [ 1 LA
FEERAIALEWEREBLAL - XA
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Total Workforce: ESAEANE

Gender: MR

Male Female B 7z

81.7% 18.3% 81. 7% 18. 3%

(2023: 83.0%) (2023:17.0%) —E=F: T =5
83.0%) 17.0%)

Employment Type: IEIELER -

Full-time Part-time 2B 37

100% 0% 100% 0%

(2023: 100%) (2023: 0%) —Eo=F: (ZE==F:
100%) 0%)

Age Group FeAap -

21-30 years old 31-40 years old 41-50 years old 51-60 years old Over 60 years old

21-30% 31-40 5 41-50% 51-60 5 B0BESL L
12.9% (2023: 13.8%) 46.2% (2023: 48.9%) 26.9% (2023: 25.6%) 12.9% (2023: 9.6%) 1.1% (2023: 2.1%)
129%(Z52=F :13.8%) 46.2%(=F==% :489%) 269%(ZF==F :256%) 12.9%(=ZF==%F:96%) 11%(ZF==F:2.1%)

Geographical Region B 1

Hong Kong PRC &8 FE

12.9% 87.1% 12. 9% 87. 1%

(2023: 12.8%) (2023: 87.2%) T =5 —EC=F
12.8%) 87.2%
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SOCIAL (continued)
Employment (continued)
Employee Turnover Rate:

Gender:
Male Female
6.5% 0%

(2023: 6.0%) (2023: 0%)

Age Group

21-30 years old 31-40 years old 41-50 years old

21-30% 31-40% 41-50 5

1.1% (2023: 13.3%) 4,3% (2023: 4.2%) 1.1% (2023: 4.0%)
TA%(CB-=F:133%)  43%(ZB-=F:42%) 11%(ZE-=%F:4.0%)

Geographical Region
Hong Kong PRC
1.1% 5.4%

(2023: 7.7%) (2023: 4.7%)

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe, effective and congenial
work environment. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines
are implemented to ensure the working environment is healthy and
safe. Different safety-related initiatives and measures have been
rolled out in the Company’s operations. Risk assessments are
also conducted to identify risks in special working environments,
while detailed safety instructions have been formulated and
communicated to workers, including both employees and
contractors as part of their safety training sessions and pre-work
risk assessment. Safety officers are appointed to coordinate and
communicate safety-related matters to all workers on site.

The Company offers its employees comprehensive health care
coverage and also provides medical insurance coverage.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has complied
with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to occupational
health and safety.
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BRIE HERERRE

SOCIAL (continued) B. #&#)
Health and Safety (continued) BERZRE(E)
Under the KPIs B2.1 to B2.3 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the REBERE g hERMRSEoI R
Company is required to disclose the number and rate of work- EWIEIEB21EB2.3 AR A EWE
related fatalities occurred in the past three years, lost days due BEZFEAMNEIIEBERMILTHA
to work injury and description of occupational health and safety HFRE ATEELXITERSWHE
measures adopted. Below are the details of the health and safety ERMBEREEZEREE AEEE
data of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024: EZE-NMF+A=+—HIFER
REZZ2EERFBOT
2024 2023 2022

—EIME T =F —T__—F
Number of work-related fatalities TERBBE ML T A AEL 0 0 0
Number of work injury cases TERHE 0 0 0
Lost days due to work injury THEBEEAIERR 0 0 0
Work injury rate (%) TEZE (%) 0% 0% 0%

Due to the characteristics and working environment of the
renewable energy industry, the Company mainly adopts the
following measures to avoid occupational hazards: to provide
necessary protection and communication tools for safety
and security personnel, to provide labour protection supplies
for maintenance personnel, and to formulate safe operating
procedures and provide safety trainings for employees. The
Company implements safety education and safety precautions and
monitored by the executive committee of the Company during the
monthly management meeting.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRIE - HERERERE

SOCIAL (continued)

Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to attend training and
development programs to strengthen their job skills, to enhance
their professionalism, to improve their operational efficiency and
productivity, and to develop their potential and other talents. In
addition, the Group encourages and assists employees to further
develop their technical or professional standards knowledge by
sponsoring them for professional membership. All applications
for membership fee and training course fee reimbursement will
be considered depending on their degree of importance to the
employee’s job and their relevance to the operational requirements
of the employee’s department. Continuous professional
development training for directors and senior management are
required and the Group encourages them to attend training
programs organized by various professional bodies.

Under the KPIs B3.1 to B3.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the percentage of employees
trained and the average training hours completed. As the Company
strongly recommends all employees to receive continuous
professional development and training according to their work
scope and the relevant training courses can be reimbursed by the
Company, the Company viewed that the KPIs B3.1 to B3.2 of the
ESG Reporting Guide are not material to the principal activities of
the Company and have not disclosed in this report.

Labour Standards

The Group’s employment practices has strictly complied with the
Labor Contract law of PRC, the Hong Kong employment laws
and other relevant laws and regulations to avoid child or forced
labour and other potential irregularities. During recruitment, all job
applicants are required to complete a job application form and
declare that all personal data provided (including age and personal
particulars) are true and correct. The Group undertakes a detailed
job reference check, if needed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
complied with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to
labour standards.
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BRIE HERERRE

SOCIAL (continued)

Labour Standards (continueqd)

Under the KPIs B4.1 to B4.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the measures to avoid child and
forced labour and the steps taken to eliminate such practices.
As the Company has formulated specific recruitment and human
resources policies that prohibit the use of child labour and forced
labour, the Company viewed that the KPIs B4.1 to B4.2 of the ESG
Reporting Guide are not material to the principal activities of the
Company and have not disclosed in this report.

Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to ensuring that its supply chain
management is socially responsible. The Group has adopted
procurement procedures and practices to identify eligible bidders
through a detailed assessment of prospective bidders. Factors
considered include company size, qualifications, financial strength,
previous track record and whether various safety, environmental
and quality related internal systems and qualifications (e.g. ISO)
are in place. Qualified parties are then allowed to participate in
the procurement process. Suppliers are chosen based on the
supplier’s ability to guarantee satisfactory product quantity and
quality, price and ability to deliver services on time. The Group
closely monitors supplier’'s performance and provides feedback
where necessary.

Under the KPIs B5.1 to B5.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the number of suppliers, practices
relating to engaging suppliers, environmental and social risks
along the supply chain and practices to promote environmentally
preferable products. As the Company is principally engaged in
renewable energy sector, the Company viewed that the KPIs B5.1
to B5.4 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material to the principal
activities of the Company and have not disclosed in this report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RiE  HERERBRS

SOCIAL (continued)

Product Responsibility

Maintaining high quality and standards are crucial to the Group’s
sustainable development. Reliability, safety, and quality of our
energy generation are crucial to the Group’s success. Therefore,
maintaining high availability and operating our wind and solar assets
efficiently to maximize our energy generation are the Group’s major
priorities.

During the construction of wind and distributed solar project,
the main equipment procured such as wind turbines and solar
panels are required to have completed all necessary testing and
qualifications certification in accordance with national standards.
At the same time, the Group has undertaken production control
and quality assurance examination of the procured equipment to
make sure of its product quality so as to protect the interests of
shareholders and customers.

The Group puts considerable effort in dealing with the core issues
that make us competitive as a renewable energy operator, including
safety, health, environmental and quality standards, and operation
& maintenance capability. The Group continuously reviews its
construction to ensure it is consistent with the original project
design.

With regard to the quality of construction and health and safety
standards, the Group strictly adheres to national and local
standards and the respective codes for construction inspection and
acceptance.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has complied
with all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to health and
safety, advertising, labelling, intellectual property rights and privacy
matters.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Product Responsibility (continued)

Under the KPIs B6.1 to B6.5 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose percentage of total products sold
or shipped subject to recalls, complaints on products and services,
intellectual property rights protection, quality assurance, consumer
data protection and privacy policies. As the Company is principally
engaged in renewable energy sector, the Company viewed that the
KPIs B6.1 to B6.5 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material to
the principal activities of the Company and have not disclosed in
this report.

Anti-Corruption

The Group issued the “Code of Conduct & Business Ethics” (the
“Code”) to all the directors and employees of the Group. The Code
sets out the principles to guide the directors and employees of the
Group to conduct business affairs in accordance with the highest
business ethical standards. The Group strives to preserve honesty,
fairness and impartiality. In accordance with the “Whistle-blowing
Guideline”, all employees can report for investigation any suspected
bribery, extortion, fraudulent and money laundering cases. Once
confirmed, it will be reported to the police or other regulatory
bodies for prosecution. The Group has also issued a “Policy on
Advantages Handling” with regard to guidelines for soliciting,
accepting or offering advantages and gifts by the directors and
employees. The Policy also provides guidelines for the avoidance
of any potential conflicts of interest or breaches of any local laws,
rules or regulations.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle, relevant
laws, rules and regulations throughout the year ended 31
December 2024 in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

Under the KPI B7.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company did
not report any legal cases regarding corruption practices during the
reporting year.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRIE - HERERERE

SOCIAL (continued)

Anti-Corruption (continued)

Under the KPI B7.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, all employees can
report for investigation any suspected bribery, extortion, fraudulent
and money laundering cases on no name basis. The Company
will not retaliate and will not allow any of its employees to retaliate
against any other employee who has reported any concern. No
employee who, in good faith, reports a concern shall be subject to
retaliation or adverse employment consequences. Any allegation
of retaliation should be reported immediately to the office of the
designated executive, and the Company will take swift response
to it, including investigation and, once confirmed, immediate
disciplinary action against any violators.

Under the KPI B7.3 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company
had issued and updated the “Whistle-blowing Guideline” to all
employees. The Group had provided the anti-corruption training,
guides and information.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to participating in the community where
we operate with an aim to improve the community’s well-being. The
corporate social responsibility forms part of the corporate culture
of the Group. Through the hiring of locals using market compatible
remuneration packages, the Group is able to share its operational
returns with the local community and to contribute back to the
society.

The Group will explore other means to contribute more to
the environment and society once the Group achieves higher
profitability. To create shared values with the community and
stakeholders, the Company will continue to consider ESG factors in
selecting future investment projects.

Under the KPIs B8.1 to B8.2 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the focus areas of contribution and
resources contributed. As the nature of the Company’s renewable
energy business is closely connected to the welfares of the local
community, the Company viewed that the KPIs B8.1 to B8.2 of the
ESG Reporting Guide are not material to the principal activities of
the Company and have not disclosed in this report.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure in presenting to
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) their report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity
of the Group is renewable energy business. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries and associated companies are set out in pages 189 to 192
of the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
performance for the year ended 31 December 2024 by geographical
and business segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages
101 to 102.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKO0.5
cents (2023: HKO.5 cents) per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2024 (the “2024 Final Dividend”) to Shareholders. Subject to
the approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming 2025 annual general
meeting (the “2025 AGM”) and subject to further announcement(s)
in respect to the book closure date, record date and payment date,
the proposed 2024 Final Dividend is expected to be distributed to
Shareholders on or before 25 June 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Risk

As a long term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the
Group is subject to Chinese government supportive policies, climate,
economy and other execution risks.
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Report of the Directors
EEgREE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s assets are denominated in Renminbi. The Group
conducts a majority of its business operations in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). The major portion of revenue, expenses and debts are
denominated in Renminbi. Fluctuations in the exchange rates of Renminbi
would have limited impact on the Group’s operations.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations during
the year.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

To retain the most productive and beneficial environment for employees,
the Group provides its staff with competitive remuneration packages
that are commensurate with individual responsibilities, qualifications,
experience and performance. The Group has a good relationship
with its customers which are the grid companies. Through regular
communication channels, the Group ensures the electricity dispatched
can be invoiced. For the suppliers, they are mainly the maintenance
providers, they provide services to our wind farms to ensure the safety
systems and the wind farms are operating reliably.

Please also refer to pages 11 to 13 for business review on the Group’s
operation and wind farms.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and there is no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in Note 22 and Note 31 respectively to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EEEREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
(as revised), amounted to HK$759.9 million (2023: HK$799.3 million).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 193 to 194.

DONATIONS
During the year, the Group made no charitable and other donations (2023:
Nil).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau (appointed on 31 May 2024)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

At the 2025 AGM, Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr.
ZHANG Songyi will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Article
85 of the Articles of Association and being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election. Mr. ZHANG Songyi who has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director for more than nine years will also be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders at
the AGM.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
the Company considers all of them to be independent.
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Report of the Directors
ETERES

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ") as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules adopted by the Company were as follows:

() Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company:
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BHRCEERBERRI) -

EERNRSF2ER
R-Z-_ME+-_A=+—8 AQTEE
REBITHABRARR S EAEEE®E(EXE
REHERBEE(TEERIPEESDEXY
) 2R - ARG REHFTEE I E LR
RARRIRIEEF M E M E3521ERTE
BYREZELMzZEZRAR @ RERIE
RARFTERANSHR E R AIM 4 C3ERE L
BOTAEFETESFR ZHIEESRA([1R2
FAHNDZHRENEARARAG MBIz RSN
KRBT

() REQXFROREERGZHFR

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shares the existing
and underlying issued share
shares of the capital of
Name of Directors Nature of interest Company the Company
EARDTR
RATRE R FEBITRA
EEpE EEME HEROHE BMOBSL
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 1,833,696,937" 73.168%
=ML NG
Joint 41,661,4392 1.662%
H[A
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau Family 1,833,696,937° 73.168%
BEx+ NI
Joint 41,661,439* 1.662%
H*E
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy Joint 2,051,401° 0.082%
HEREE A
Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel Personal 8,5508 0.001%
FEIREE EA
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company: (continued)

(i

86

Notes:

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

Since as at 31 December 2024, HKC (Holdings) Limited (‘HKC”) was held as
to (i) approximately 67.829% by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”) (via its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”) and Genesis
Capital Group Limited (“Genesis”)), a company wholly-owned by Mr. OEl Kang,
Eric; and (ii) approximately 32.171% by Great Nation International Limited
(“Great Nation”) (via its wholly-owned subsidiary, Genesis Ventures Limited
(“Genesis Ventures”)), a company owned as to 50% by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric
and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau. As thus, Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) in which HKC is interested.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest in
1,403,352,050 Shares held by HKC; (i) an interest in 154,278,990 Shares held
by Creator; and (jii) an interest in 276,065,897 Shares held by Genesis.

The joint interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents an interest in 41,661,439

Shares jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.

Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares
in which Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric is taken to be interested.

The joint interest of Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau represents an interest in 41,661,439
Shares jointly held with Mr. OEI Kang, Eric.

The joint interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents an interest in
2,051,401 Shares jointly held with his wife, Mrs. WONG Hongmei Guo.

The personal interest of Mr. LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel represents an interest in 8,550
Shares.

Annual Report 2024
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Claudio Holdings Limited ([ Claudio])##&
#67.829% (EME 2 EMBERAFRIES
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (continueq)
(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
associated corporation of the Company:

EERBSERE)
RAQFRBEZE RS R HEBERSD

(ii)

ZHER
Approximate
Number of shares percentage of

and underlying existing issued

shares of the  share capital of

Name ofassociated Nature of associated the associated
corporation Name of Director interest corporation corporation
AR A E R

HEB LR R BEBITRE

HEEEER EEHE ERMtE HERAEA BB

HKC (Holdings) Limited Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 511,074,246' 100.000%

BEEER(ZER)ERAA =M%k E NG

HKC (Holdings) Limited Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau ~ Family 346,657,938 67.829%

BEEER(ER)BERAA REx+ E)3

Corporate 164,416,308° 32171%
NE]

Note: MIEE -

1. The corporate interest of Mr. OEl Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest in 1. EMxcEz AR EEE)BAESEZ
208,445,407 shares of HKC held by Creator; (i) an interest in 143,212,531 208,445,407 R B SRR M ER « () BE
shares of HKC held by Genesis; and (i) an interest in 164,416,308 shares of Bl ¥ 2 143,212,631 Il & 75 R % 1) 1
HKC held by Genesis Ventures. % R (i) REEAIBIZEH5H 2 164,416,308 18

BRI -

2. Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares 2. BB LT HEARERTER SRR
in which Mr. OEI Kang, Eric is taken to be interested. ZE— RO R ER S o

3. The corporate interest of Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau represents an interest in 3. etz AR EREREANZENEA

164,416,308 shares of HKC held by Genesis Ventures, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Great Nation, a company owned as to 50% by Mrs. OEIl Valonia
Lau and as to the remaining 50% by her husband, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent company or its other
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or its specified undertakings or other associated corporation.

AIEAIBI ¥ E 2 164,416,308 (R E B E &
Rip#Ez - MEBBIE L THAS0%E
o PR 50% s BRI 2 LR EMIST A
ﬁ °

fr E XX BEES  RNAFEAREAER - K
RE - EMBAR HREMELRR - HE
NAE S EAMABAE MBI AR B
FEARBEEREIBTHAB(BRERFZE
BRISEA T ZFRINRARA - HERAE
ERHMEBEE 2Rk - HEROHES
hHEA T AEESAR -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ Interests in Securities”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that enabled the Directors or any
of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective associate(s) was interested in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Note 23 “Bank borrowings” and Note 28 “Related
party transactions” to the consolidated financial statements, the
transactions with HKC and its subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEl Kang,
Eric was interested, no contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the following persons (other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO:
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ETERES

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FTERRRES 2Bz (E)
SECURITIES (continued)
Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares RO REBRG ZHFR
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares and the existing
underlying issued share
shares of the capital of the
Name Nature of interest Company Company
/N AR ATR
Bz 17 & 16 E8 BEBITRA
waEB EEME RGEE BHAED
Claudio Holdings Limited Corporate 1,833,696,937" 73.168%
N A
HKC (Holdings) Limited Beneficial owner 1,403,352,0502 56.000%
EERR(ER)AERRAF Emia A
Genesis Capital Group Limited Beneficial owner 276,065,897° 11.016%
EREEFRAF EnMBA
Creator Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 154,278,990* 6.156%
BlEEEBRAA EnlEE A
Notes: BT
1. Claudio is beneficially interested in approximately 67.829% of the issued share capital 1. Claudio B = A BB R XD BT AL 67.829%

of HKC (via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and thus, is deemed
to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which HKC is interested. In addition,
as Creator and Genesis are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Claudio, and thus, Claudio
is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which Creator and Genesis
are interested.

2. The beneficial interest of HKC represents an interest in 1,403,352,050 Shares.

3. The beneficial interest of Genesis represents an interest in 276,065,897 Shares.

4. The beneficial interest of Creator represents an interest in 154,278,990 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2024, the Company had not
been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief executive of
the Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which are required to record in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

Em(EBE2ENBARAZERER) - FILHAE
RNBBERERREZFA—HROPHE #E -
[ EEECE'JL&%%M%CIaudmZ%éWE
Al - Et - Claudio #AR MR AIE R EAIHA s
AR PR -

2. BERR T

;m}

R 53 #E 70 1,403,352,050 % % 17 2

BEXEEEN R_ZT-_MWME+ A
=+—8 ARRTEETMNAL(ESEAR
RARFBTBRABRINAE - RRERERHD
MABBER MR HEE BELRARBIREE
M EGPIEXVBECIKEZREATEE
ZERMAZEEZIAE °
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related Party
Transactions” in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the year
attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 13%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 29%

Sales

During the year, the Group had five customers only and the percentages
of the Group’s sales attributable to the major customers are as follows:

42%
58%

The largest customer
The remaining customers

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or Shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s customers and
suppliers noted above.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 23 to 62.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Group
are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting terms
than the Model Code. A Code for Securities Dealings by Employees has
also been adopted in this regard.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in Note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director and other officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto, provided that the indemnity shall not extend
to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach
to any of said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate liability
insurance to indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

ERETESXZNEESA
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REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY AUDIT
COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors with written terms of reference in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports to the
Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Moore CPA Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 30
December 2021. There was no changes in the auditor of the Company in
any of the preceding 3 years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024 have been audited by Moore CPA Limited who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Moore CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the 2025 AGM, subject to the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the 2025 AGM.
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APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau (“Mrs. OEI”) was appointed as an executive director
and a member of the executive committee of the Company with effect
from 31 May 2024. Mrs. OEl has obtained legal advice from a firm
of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law under Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules on 7 May 2024. Mrs. OEl has confirmed that she
understood her obligations as a director of the Company.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the information
of the Director since the date of the 2024 Interim Report is set out below:

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo
(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo has resigned as an independent non-executive

director of Top Spring International Holdings Limited with effect from 30
September 2024.

On behalf of the Board
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
OEIl Kang, Eric

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MOORE Moore CPA Limited B X
1001-1010, North Tower, World Finance Centre, Efﬁ %
Harbour City, 19 Canton Road, =
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong %
o
T +852 2375 3180 B
F +852 2375 3828 PR i
A
www.moore.hk 3 =

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY
INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
101 to 192, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BREETSEE

ERESEIR
FARETFESREBERMNEZHE - R
BARGEVBRERNEITR/EENSE
He ZEFHRERMNBAEREAWBR
XEHARRRETEEN - RATSHZ
SEBEERHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMPETERRNMEHRERESSE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets
related to power plants in the Mainland China, which
have impairment indicators
RABKEREREENEERETFRZYE  BBRR
B BEEERERAREEETRERNMG

Refer to note 2.7 and 4(a) to the consolidated financial
statements

FRMGE R FIREN T 2.7 K 4(a)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s non-current assets
principally comprised property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets related to power
plants in the Mainland China. Management considered
impairment indicators existed for certain power plants and
performed impairment assessments on these power plants
accordingly.

RZZB-MFE+-_A=+—H EBEXEENFERDHEEE

ZEETEAENZEEMEBODE  HBELRE - BY
BENGERAEEE BEERRETEERS FEREDR

R WHZERERET T HEARMERE

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and right-of-use assets related to relevant power
plants in the Mainland China included:
SEREL T EAENESHABMAYE - SRR
BEEAENRGCREEELETREN G 2 EBERETBE

° Understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of the entity’s key controls on the
process of impairment assessment of the power
plants, which have impairment indicators;

e THNMMEERBBENTFERENRHNE
mRE AR TR RER

% ERURERT

° Understanding the valuation basis, methodology used
and underlying assumptions applied to the discounted
cash flow models;

s THURKSMRANGEEE  AFERMK
FREARK

° Reviewing the valuation report from the independent
qualified valuer in determining the discount rates

applied;
s FEHBUASERMGEMZGEERS - UEBETAHEA
MBEER &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEHE

BEREESERE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNETEXRSNEYERETSR

Management assessed whether there was any impairment
of the carrying values of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and right-of-use assets by calculating
the recoverable amount under value in use method. The
impairment assessment requires management to exercise
significant management judgement and estimates, among
other things, estimating correspondingly future electricity
price, future sales volume and discount rate.
ERERAKATRBERATEATQRESE  FEY
¥ MERRE BEVEEURTAREENEEEBERS
FEEMBE - BEMGEREREELEREE A BN
et R BEMATTHEENARKENER - RKFEEREE
W& o

Based on the management’s assessment, no impairment
loss on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
and right-of-use assets were recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024.
BEEEEMNTG B2 -_NF+=-A=+—HLF
B BEYE KRhRE BUEENRERZEEED
BEBENERER o
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Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the independent qualified valuer;
B ERGEMER B RTHIIL

Evaluating the reasonableness of assumptions
underpinning the discounted cash flow models,
including management’s business plan, expectation of
market development, projection of volume of electricity
dispatched and average annual electricity price;

A BHARRERRANBRRCEEY  BEE
BENERE  MSEREH  BEEMARSF
HEE

Involving our internal valuation experts to assess
the reasonableness of the discount rates applied in
determining the value in use of the power plants, which
have impairment indicators; and
ZRMOABEEERTHECFERETRAE
BEMEAEBEMANMREERNEEN : &

Reperforming the arithmetical accuracy of the
calculation of the discounted cash flow models.
ENREMBERSRERN NG EEEM EAEEE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Kong Shao Fung
Practicing Certificate Number: PO7996

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEZHEBRARE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_NNE+_A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—EME T =F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FET FHET
Revenue Wz 5 163,065 181,337
Cost of sales SHE AR 7 (130,118) (129,192)
Gross profit EF 32,947 52,145
Other income HAUk A 5 5,188 6,012
Other losses HihEia 6 - (30,620)
Administrative expenses TERER 7 (30,537) (37,405)
Operating profit/(loss) iR (FR) 7,598 (9,868)
Finance income B F U A 8 2,955 3,916
Finance costs & Ak A 8 (14,598) (28,081)
Finance costs - net BB — F 5 8 (11,643) (24,165)
Share of results of associates i NI E 18 22,158 57,100
Profit before income tax Fri8 B A R 18,113 23,067
Income tax expense FrEHh 11 (3,704) (4,277)
Profit for the year REEER 14,409 18,790
Other comprehensive loss Htt2HEEE
ltems that will not be reclassified 1§ TR g BN
subsequently to profit or loss DEEEEZER
Currency translation differences of AARREWBARZ
the Company and its subsidiaries EHREERE (30,522) (29,162)
Currency translation differences of BENRZERBE
associates =R (28,755) (17,858)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, AEEHMEHEERE
net of tax NRBiE (54,277) (47,020)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEEEBARE (39,868) (28,230)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: LT EERR(BE)
Equity holders of the Company RAFERFEB A 16,475 23,281
Non-controlling interests IR i = (2,066) (4,491)
14,409 18,790
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FERERARK
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_Z_MNF+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-@OEF —E-=
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FiEx FHET
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: A TR ZEEIEELE :
Equity holders of the Company RARIERFFBE A (37,960) (23,802)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M 2 (1,908) (4,428)
(39,868) (28,230)
Earnings per share attributable to equity AFEAQATERZHFEA
holders of the Company for the year EiESRER
(expressed in HK cents per share) (BRUEAWSIR)
Basic and diluted earnings per share EREXARBEER 12 0.66 0.93
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

n —\éﬂji‘%;‘ﬁiﬂvﬁ
As at 31 December 2024
RZZEZMOF+=-HA=1+—H

2024 2023
—E-WEF —EF=
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FExT FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EMBEE
Property, plant and equipment I YN 14 751,858 873,421
Construction in progress I 15 2,124 364
Right-of-use assets CREEE 16 11,765 13,451
Intangible assets mEEE 17 720 1,372
Prepayments and other receivables TR R B EL At R LR 19 8,598 17,259
Interests in associates NN o o 18 759,440 824,173
Total non-current assets EFRBEERTE 1,534,505 1,730,040
Current assets REBEE
Inventories mE 9,131 11,541
Trade and other receivables JREE W2 B S50 B L At FE LR 19 355,307 345,343
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 20 232,170 164,290
Total current assets REBEELE 596,608 521,174
Total assets EEAR 2,131,113 2,251,214
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to EARERBFEEAEML
equity holders of the Company EARRHE
Share capital fi&% 7R 21 25,062 25,062
Reserves & 22 1,806,573 1,857,064
Equity attributable to equity holders EARERBFEA
of the Company B R 1,831,635 1,882,126
Non-controlling interests =R RS (10,053) (8,145)
Total equity g L] 1,821,582 1,873,981
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBRRE
As at 31 December 2024
RZZEZME+=ZA=+—H

2024 2023
—EmEg =
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M FHT FHET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities IREBEE
Bank borrowings |ITER 23 195,261 244,461
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFSHaE 25 27,835 32,669
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEHAEE 223,096 277,130
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables AT BR 3R M EoAth B A< 3R 26 51,268 55,045
Current portion of bank borrowings SRITREFRBIEREE 2 23 32,371 43,339
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFR SR B & 2,796 1,719
Total current liabilities REBaEEHE 86,435 100,103
Total liabilities EEHAE 309,531 377,233
Total equity and liabilities ERRkEaBHRE 2,131,113 2,251,214

OEI Kang, Eric
=
Director

s
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEDREER

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-_MF+_A=1+—HULFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ADAEREEAEL
Non-
Share Share Exchange Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
R R4 EE B R EERE REEA B FERER ERAE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TR TER

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TR TREL TR TR

(Note)
(Hiat)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-ZB-=£-A-H
24 25,062 925,856 (48,117) 28,077 987581 1918459 @717 1,914742
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERRN/(B8) - - - - 23,281 23,281 (4,491) 18,790
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: E A2 (&), /KA :
Currency tranglation differences of ~ AARREKBARZ
the Company and its subsidiaries ENmEER - - (29,225) - - (29,225) 63 (29,162)
Currency translation differences BEARZERAEESR
of associates - - (17,858) - - (17,858) - (17,858)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (E1#8),/ WALE - - (47,083) - 23,281 (23,802) (4,428) (28,230)
Transactions with owners BEBEAETZRE
Transfer to statutory reserve BERLERE - - - 4,002 (4,002) - - -
Dividend paid EARE - - - - (12,531) (12,531) - (12,531)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-B==fF
+ZA=1t—-Bz&8% 25,062 925,856 (95,200) 32,079 994,329 1,882,126 (8,145) 1,873,981
Balance at 1 January 2024 R-Z-mE-A-A
ZiES 25,062 925,856 (95,200) 32,079 994,329 1,882,126 (8,145) 1,873,981
Profit/(loss) for the year rEERA/(BB) - - - - 16,475 16,475 (2,066) 14,409
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: EA 2 (&i8) /WA :
Currency translation differences of ~ AAFRREMBAFZ
the Company and its subsidiaries ERREEE - - (30,680) - - (30,680) 158 (30,522)
Currency translation differences BENRCEBREESE
of associates - - (23,755) - - (23,755) - (23,755)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2T (&18),/ WALE - - (54,435) - 16,475 (37,960) (1,908) (39,868)
Transactions with owners BREANETZRS
Transfer to statutory reserve EREETHE - - - 2,960 (2,960) - - -
Dividend paid EMRE - - - - (12,531) (12,531) - (12,531)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-B-WF
+-A=t+-B&H 25,062 925856 (149,635) 35,039 995313 1,831,635 (10,053) 1,821,582

Note: The Group’s subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are required to
allocate at least 10% of net profit according to their PRC audited financial statements
to a statutory reserve fund until the balance of such reserve has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. Any further appropriation is optional. The statutory
reserve fund shall only be used for making up losses or for capitalisation into share
capital, provided that the remaining balance is not less than 20% of the registered
capital of the entity after such capitalisation.

Brit - AREESFEARKME(HEDAHBRREAR
FEPBREEZNEBRE - BED10%0FHE
NEBEEMRE BEEZRERBEENBARG
MAEREE0% @ 2 & AREE — B < EERE
SERNBHEBEREAMBERAY - BEEKETE
BERZEAMEREEEMEARN20%
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—HILtFE

2024 2023
—EIMF —E-=
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FExT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETH2HERE
Cash generated from operations KEMSHE 29(a) 75,275 138,023
Mainland China taxation paid B A B K BE R IR (3,584) (5,829)
Net cash generated from KEEBMEREFE
operating activities 71,691 132,194
Cash flows from investing activities RETHzHRERE
Dividend received from associates B QR E 84,536 169,274
Interest received B U F &8 2,971 3,874
Proceeds from disposal of property, MEYZE - HBEREE
plant and equipment FriS30E 14 784
Purchase of property, plant and BAME - BERRE
equipment (4,678) (16,259)
Purchase of construction in progress BAEETLRE (1,846) (320)
Purchase of right-of-use assets BASRAEEE (129) -
Purchase of intangible assets BAEREE (53) (59)
Net cash generated from WEESMSHRESFE
investing activities 80,815 157,294
Cash flows from financing activities METBHz2RERE
Repayment of amount due to a EEEN —BRERIEA
shareholder - (165,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings EEBITER (53,859) (145,096)
Interest paid for bank borrowings BAIRITERAE (14,653) (19,877)
Dividend paid B E (12,531) (12,531)
Interest paid for amount due to a BN EN—RERERIE
shareholder ZAE - (10,990)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBMARESFE (81,043) (353,494)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReRkAEEEY
and cash equivalents i CRd)FE 71,463 (64,0086)
Cash and cash equivalents at R—A—BZHEEX
1 January REZED 164,290 232,414
Effect of foreign exchange rate EREE) &
changes (3,583) (4,118)
Cash and cash equivalents at R+=-ZA=+—-B=x2
31 December BHEeRBESEEY 232,170 164,290
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B |RME

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or
“CRE”) is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of the registered office is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in renewable energy business. The Group has
operations mainly in the PRC.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
intermediate holding company is HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC”), a
company incorporated in Bermuda. The ultimate holding company
is Claudio Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party is Mr. OEl Kang, Eric,
who is also the chairman, chief executive officer and executive
director of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand or HK$’000), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements were
approved for issue by the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) on 28 March 2025.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of CRE have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continueq)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.

(@)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale

HKFRS 16 and Leaseback
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities

HKAS 1 with Covenants

Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and Arrangements
HKFRS 7

The application of the new and amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

2 EXGHBEER#E)
21 RREE(E)
(b) EBEMEMRERZITR

RIETEBMBHREER
AEBEVERFEERATIE
MR B 18 R A U2 $TRT A

not yet effective:

BRI BB BIREER

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

RT5 B
ZERBEZ
SHPBEEX

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7
BB BHREEREIR R
BBV BmELETR 2E
Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7
BBV EREERE IR R
BEMBRELENE 7R 2
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BEBNBHREENE 105 R
BB GRTERE 285 2 185]

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

BEMBERE S EL IBF]
Amendments to HKAS 21
BERGETERE 215 2185
HKFRS 18

BB REAERE 1855

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
SRMITENDBEAE ZIEF]

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity
FRAREEAREREEEINAER

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture

BEERHEBENTREGEEEZHDN
BELHEIRA

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11

BRI E G ER 2 FE T —
E111f0

Lack of Exchangeability

= AT A

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

MBHmR 225 RBE

FEBERIREERAT |

1 January 2026

- RF—HA—H

1 January 2026

—E-RF—H—H

To be determined

1 January 2026
—E-RF—HA—H
1 January 2025
—E-hHF—H—H
1 January 2027

—E-t+F—H—H
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continueq)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will
replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS
1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted.
The application of the new standard is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up

to 31

(@)

December.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss.

In the Company’s statement of financial position (see
Note 31), investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. It is adjusted to reflect changes
in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(@)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition. The Group’s interests in associates
include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate,
any difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as
goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

Associates (continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the profit or loss,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to “share of results of associates” in the income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

Associates (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in
associates are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other income or other and general
expenses in profit or loss.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible

for all

ocating resources and assessing performance of the

operating segments, has been identified as the Group’s most
senior executive management that makes strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is Renminbi and the Company’s
presentation currency is Hong Kong dollars to facilitate
analysis of the financial information of the Group, which
is listed in Hong Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

()  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the reporting date;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continuea)

(©)

Group companies (continued)

(i)

(i)

income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Goodwill and fair
value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate. Cumulative exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, motor vehicles and
furniture, fixtures and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continueq)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method, to write off their cost less the
residual values over their estimated useful lives or remaining
useful lives for those second-hand assets and the estimated

useful lives are as follows:

Electricity utility plants

Other plant

and machinery

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

Motor vehicles

Shorter of the remaining
operation period or 20 years

5 years

Shorter of the remaining lease

period or 5 years

3-5 years

3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the
asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged in the profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other gains/losses, net in the profit or loss.

Intangible assets

(@) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business combination
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
concession right has a finite useful life and is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over its concession right period of shorter of
the remaining operation period or 20 years.

(b) Computer software
Computer software separately acquired is shown
at historical cost. Computer software acquired in a
business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of computer
software over its estimated useful live of 2-5 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)). Assets other than
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Investments and other financial assets
(@) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.8

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(©)

(d)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

The Group subsequently measures all financial assets
at amortised cost. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s rights to receive payments is
established.

Impairment

The Group applies the simplified approach on assessing
the expected credit losses associated with trade
receivables as permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 19 for further
details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.9 Financial guarantee policy

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks,
financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of subsidiaries
or associates to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking
facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was given.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liabilities under
such guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial
amount, less amortisation of fees recognised, and the best
estimate of the amount required to settle the guarantee.
These estimates are determined based on experience of
similar transactions and history of past losses, supplemented
by management’s judgement. The fee income earned
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the
guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is
reported in the profit or loss within other operating expenses.
Please refer to Note 3.1(b) for impairment assessment of
financial guarantee contract.

122 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

2

EXRSFBERER(E)

2.9 MBEEAEE

MBEREOREEITAARR
HEBRBARERBES TAW
FER MBI MEHE - BARALD
FEAXMNEERRANENER
KWER - ZFHBERIDKREK
B~ Bl B = R R T IRAT
TREEREMEEBUEREE
R BXREMIBITEE -

B ERVSEERRERZAD
ANFERTEREFPER 915
Rk AEBRZEBEERTH
ABfE BV BEREERNE
R HENEREBAT2
ENREGRTHNERSETE - %
EHEDBREBEEUR &R LB
T ESIE I S I A B TR B Y H B
MET - TR EAKRAKE
BOEPERERNER - BHEE
REAHEMILIN - RIEZRE
REEMEERST - WBERE
W RERH S KT EES.1(b)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
2.10 Trade receivables

2.1

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. See Note 19 for further information
about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note
3.1 for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
2.14 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit and at the time of the transaction does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EXE:tHEER#E)
(continued)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 214 EEIRIEEFIBH(Z)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
for deferred tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

EEFTEIRE ER RKA A LM
CEABENMSHEREZRT
DA SHBFHERR o

EIEFTS B To st B B & B Ko Bk
RANEBEELEZEREEMAR
B EREEAIUEHERER
ZEOER BEREREAR
RAERA KA REB @ 2 R IA
BERIBRIN o

EBRHORBRBIAITER - A
EHHEEERHEYNNESR
B BEEMBHREERARTS
HFE—-HEHERR - ERTE
BATRERRERBBB G
HERM REBRFRELELS
B REMSHREENRAE
ToF LAKEH

2.15 &5

ARG A FERNGREELER
SRR - 18N HE 1R 1R 55
RN B ¢ PG BRR (FOBR 32 5 A
) BLfE B A 2 E ] Z RN E K
HARERMNEZERN Ba R g

FEBLRRREERAT | 125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.15 Borrowings (continueq)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.

2.16 Employee benefits

(@) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.16 Employee benefits (continuead)

(b)

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF”) and employee pension schemes
established by municipal government in the PRC for
the eligible employees in Hong Kong and the PRC
respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the
MPF comply with the related statutory requirements.
The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF are expensed as incurred
and are not reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave MPF prior to vesting fully in the
contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available. The asset
of MPF is held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offset as
a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the
Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from
the relevant employees.

2

FEBERIREERAT |

EXRSFBERER(E)

216 BEREF (&)

(b)

E MR E
AEEDRRTERBRTHEH
ZRERREERMSEHEH %
rRiEeEtE([#ES ) kA
BT T RR AL 2 B B R IR
RTEl

REE KRB HIRERZED
BREBBEELHHER - &
SRR - AREBEE
—ENREE - AEEHR
BEEH 2 HRRELRT)
FFx - MASEEER
2HEBEHRRATE2ER
S MO K2 K - W i
BRI 2R RFRKRIAH
B BNERERIB/E
Eeo Rt cEERAKHE
BENHRE  XLHBELE
B EGER o

REREETLME A%
EREDTBCHENSE
19.93(a) & 1% T8 #8 #& T 3K
WEZTRBESHERAAREAR
EREHERESTAHHK
MERFEEENE - KK
BRBOGHTSBEIENKBA
CSECRBREEMNM®RES
HRMEENENSEINE
R ABET  BBEMH
RERABKREBHAREENHR

=
oA °

127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

2.16 Employee benefits (continuead)

(b)

(©)

Defined contribution plans (continued)

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in compliance
with the requirements of respective municipal
governments.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when
the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is
within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to their present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
2.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be
made. In respect of the potential obligations to dismantle the
wind farms at the end of their useful lives, the Group would
assess the obligations continuously based on the latest
changes in the laws and regulations and make provision
when the recognition criteria are met.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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REMIBEHRME

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2
(continued)

2.18 Revenue recognition

EXRSTEEER @)

2.18 R

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown
net of value-added tax within the Group and after eliminating
sales within the Group.

Revenue from sales of electricity is recognised at a point of
time when it is transferred to the customers, generally when
electricity is supplied to the provincial grid companies.

2.19 Leases

The Group’s leases consist of land lease and rental of office
premises.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

At inception, the Group assesses whether a contract contains
a lease. This assessment involves the exercise of judgement
about whether it depends on a specified asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)
2.19 Leas

(@)

es (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying assets is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any re-measurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.
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REMIBEHRME

2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

2.19 Leases (continued)

(b) Short-term leases and lease of low-value assets
Payments associated with short-term leases of
office premises and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. The Group did not have any
low-value assets.

2.20 Contingent liabilities

2.21

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, bank borrowings, amount due to
a shareholder and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.

The Board focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Board reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below:

(@) Market risk
() Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group’s functional currency.
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REMIBEHRME

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(@)

Market risk (continued)

0

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors the foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2024, if US dollars and Hong
Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by
5% against Renminbi respectively, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax would have been HK$6.1 million higher/lower
respectively (2023: HK$2.8 million higher/lower).

Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk arises
from bank borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder with variable rates, which expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s
results and operating cash flows are dependent
on changes in market interest rates.

The Group does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposures should the
need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@)

(b)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2024, if interest rates had
been 100 (2023: 100) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s profit before income tax would have
decreased/increased by HK$2.4 million (2023:
decreased/increased by HK$3.0 million).

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its cash and cash
equivalents, prepayments, trade and other receivables,
and financial guarantee provided for credit facilities
granted to certain associates.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
prepayments, trade and other receivables represent the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
its financial assets.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

0

Risk management

To manage the credit risk associated with cash
and cash equivalents, most of the deposits are
placed with certain state-owned banks in the PRC
which are high-credit-quality financial institutions
and banks with high credit ratings in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with trade
and other receivables, the Group adopts risk
control measures to assess the credit quality,
to determine credit limits and approve credit of
customers, taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has
been monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE VI E|RMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

0

Risk management (continued)

The Group is exposed to significant concentration
of credit risk in terms of electricity sales as the
Group’s sales of electricity were made to state-
owned grid companies. The Group normally
does not require collateral from trade debtors.
[t normally grants credit terms of 30 days
from invoice date to these state-owned grid
companies. However, tariff subsidy receivables
(included in trade receivables), including those
held through associates, are due from the state-
owned grid companies relate to government
subsidy which are subject to the government
allocation of the national renewable energy
fund, and normally would issue invoice until the
government subsidy has been allocated to the
state-owned grid companies. Ageing analysis
of the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in
Note 19. Management makes periodic collective
assessment as well as individual assessment of
the recoverability of trade and other receivables
based on historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial strength of the
debtors and whether there are any disputes with
the relevant debtors.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for
all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of customers and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on the inflation rate and the economic
environment of the PRC.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

Trade receivables (including tariff subsidy
receivables), arising from sales of electricity were
due from customers which are state-owned grid
companies. The financial resource for the tariff
subsidy receivables is the national renewable
energy fund that accumulated through a special
levy on the consumption of electricity. Renewable
energy projects entitling tariff subsidies have to be
approved and included in the renewable energy
subsidy list (or formerly subsidy catalogue). The
application, approval and settlement of the tariff
subsidy are subject to certain procedures by
relevant government authorities.

As at 31 December 2024, all the Group’s wind
farms and solar project have been approved and
included in the renewable energy subsidy list.
The amount of tariff subsidy receivables as at
31 December 2024 is HK$308.1 million (2023:
HK$281.3 million). The tariff subsidy receivables
will be settled upon the Ministry of Finance
(“MoF”)’s allocation of the national renewable
energy fund to the state-owned grid companies.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

After taking into account of the aforesaid
factors and the forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort, and
considering the Group’s customers (i.e. state-
owned grid companies) are well supported by
the prevailing government policies, the directors
are of the opinion that the risk of default is
minimal and close to zero and does not expect
any material losses from non-performance by
these customers. This conclusion is supported
by consistent settlement patterns with no prior
instances of default, as well as the fact that the
subsidy is funded by the Renewable Energy
Development Fund, which is established and
managed by the MOF. Accordingly, the expected
credit loss is also close to zero and no loss
allowance of trade receivables (including the tariff
subsidy receivables) was recognised as at 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Dividend receivables from associates (included in
other receivables)

Included in other receivables was dividend
receivables from associates of HK$14.5 million
(2023: HK$36.6 million), which the management
performs impairment assessment on the balances
on a periodic basis.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset (continued)

Dividend receivables from associates (included in
other receivables) (continued)

In assessing the probability of defaults of dividend
receivables from associates, the management
has taken into account the financial position of
the counterparties, the industries they operate,
their latest operating result where available
as well as forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Since the
counterparties are all engaged in wind power
industry in which their major current assets are
tariff subsidy receivables of HK$112.8 million
(attributable to the Group) (2023: HK$135.2
million), the collection of which is well supported
by government policies; accordingly, the
management considered the credit risk is limited.

For the purpose of impairment assessment of
dividend receivables from associates, the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equals to
12m ECL. In determining the ECL of dividend
receivables from associates, after taking into
account of the aforesaid factors and the forward
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort, and considering the debtors
operate in the wind power industry which is
well supported by the prevailing government
policies, the management considered the ECL
provision for dividend receivables from associate
is insignificant.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset (continued)

Financial guarantee contract

For financial guarantee contracts, the aggregate
amount of outstanding financial guarantees issued
to a bank in respect of bank facility granted to an
associate that the Group could be required to pay
amounted to HK$ Nil as at 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$13.1 million). HK$Nil (2023: HK$13.1
million) of the outstanding financial guarantee
has been utilised by the associate. The fair value
of this financial guarantee, as at dates of initial
recognition, was considered insignificant after
taking into account the financial position of the
associate, the industry it operates, its operating
result where available as well as forward looking
information. At the end of the reporting period,
the management has performed impairment
assessment, and concluded that there has been
no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition of the financial guarantee contract.
Accordingly, the loss allowance for financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group is
measured at an amount equal to 12m ECL. No
loss allowance was recognised in the profit or
loss after taking into account the financial position
of the associate, the industry it operates, its
operating result where available as well as forward
looking information.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3 UXEBREE®)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HM¥EREEREE)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBEERME
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to nBECRERAREE KB
meet its current obligations when they fall due. The RENEREB B AR ETR T
Group measures and monitors its liquidity through ZRERE - - AEEGEBRER
the maintenance of prudent ratios regarding the mBEeEB(BELRE
liquidity structure of the overall assets, liabilities, WEREEE AF- - BEXK
loans and commitments of the Group. The Group EE)RBENLLE 5T 2
also maintains a conservative level of liquid assets to LERAREREN - K
ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to meet SET#BSRBEERTER
any unexpected and material cash requirements in the K- UERAEBETBIES
course of ordinary business. mE - RUEMNBEEBKA
AR EAAREETEA R ERD
ReFE -
During the year, the Group complied with all externally REEAN AEEBEMEB
imposed loan covenant requirements to which it is BB EEGRMES -
subject to.
The following table details the Group’s contractual TRFAVAREERIwE A
maturity for its financial liabilities at the reporting date. THMBEZEHIEAE T
The table has been drawn up with reference to the K2ESRABBEZKRMER
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on ERERAEEBEEERH
the earliest date on which the Group is required to pay. REZEEEHmMER -
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 2and5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
—-fR -—EZF ZEIF HFUE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31 December 2024 RZFZMEF
+=A=+-H
Bank borrowings BRITIEN 41,661 40,362 112,535 68,113 262,671
Trade and other payables ERTBR T R A TR 51,268 - - - 51,268
At 31 December 2023 i
+=ZA=+—-H
Bank borrowings BITHER 56,093 53,308 121,795 108,003 339,199
Trade and other payables R ERR RE A BT 3K 55,045 - - - 55,045
Financial guarantee BB ERE 13,196 - - - 13,196

TEBEERREERAR | —2-mEsR 143



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

MR ERE)
3.2 EXEBER

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital structure.
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group
considers the cost and the risk associated with the capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or conduct shares buy-back.

The Group maintains its gearing ratio within the reasonable
range according to the Group’s strategy.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were
as follows:

AEEERERAZTRE RREXR
SEBELEEB 2R BXK
ARCRIEHE ® S A E R
HRBAGENGE  THFRE
HERRBETMREESKA -

AEEBEBBRTEARBERE
AR o FINER S M B AROR R AR
AEBEZERRBEEEH LA
RAEDRFAARGRED A%
EeETREeRARESHBAE
@ REFAFEELARE X
SEREHABABRRI M ZEE
TR BITHRDICETEROE
] o

AEERBERE  BAEEE
AEBELRERRAERERA -

RZE-_NMER_FT-_=F+=
A=+—BZ2&XRAaELERNT

2024 2023

—E-mE —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Current portion of bank borrowings RITE KB ER D 32,371 43,339
Bank borrowings RITER 195,261 244,461
Total borrowings BB 227,632 287,800
Less: Bank deposits and cash B RITERERS (232,170) (164,290)
Net debt position BB FEEMMN (4,538) 123,510
Total equity MR AR 1,821,580 1,873,981
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 0.0% 6.6%
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RE VI E|RMEE

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group has no assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The carrying values of trade and other receivables, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables, current portion
of bank borrowings, amount due to a shareholder and lease
liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities. The carrying values of variable rate borrowings
approximate their fair values as the impact of discounting
using the relevant rate is not significant.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.
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4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed by management
for impairment losses whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less costs to sell and value in use of the plant and
equipment. Management makes judgements on whether
such events or changes in circumstances have occurred,
and makes estimates in determining the recoverable amount.
In the situation where the value in use of property, plant and
equipment cannot be assessed due to the uncertainties of
the operation model in the future, management has assessed
the respective recoverable amount solely based on the fair
value less costs to sell. Provision is made when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts
may not be recovered.

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, right-of-use assets related to power
plants in Mainland China have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance
with the relevant accounting policies. The Group reviews
certain indicators of potential impairment such as operating
performance, actual electricity dispatched, electricity price
and other general market conditions.
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4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China (continueq)

If an indication of impairment is identified, the need for
recognising an impairment loss is assessed by comparing the
carrying amount of the assets, to the higher of (i) the fair value
less cost to sell, and (i) the value in use of the CGUs. The
value in use of the CGUs represents estimated future cash
flows from the continuous use of the assets, and requires
complex assumptions and estimates such as future electricity
dispatched, electricity price and discount rates. The discount
rates used to discount the estimated future cash flows are
based on the relevant industry sector risk premium and the
gearing ratio.

The management of the Group has assessed and concluded
that the Group has classified 4 CGUs for impairment
assessment purpose, which is based on the geographical
location of the wind farms or solar projects, namely (i)
Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, (i) Siziwang Qi Phase
I'and Il wind farms, (i) Songxian wind farm and (iv) Nanxun
distributed solar project.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China (continueq)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
performed impairment assessment on the CGU in Siziwang Qi
Phase | and Il wind farms (2023: Mudanjiang and Muling wind
farms and Songxian wind farm) with impairment indicator as
these wind farms’ financial performance for the current year
are worse than the management’s expected. Property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, construction in progress
and intangible assets allocated to the respective CGU in
Siziwang Qi Phase | and Il wind farms had carrying amounts
of HK$271.9 million (2023: Mudanjiang and Muling wind
farms of HK$82.4 million; Songxian wind farm of HK$454.0
million), HK$1.7 million (2023: Mudanjiang and Muling wind
farms of HK$2.2 million; Songxian wind farm of HK$9.3
million), HK$ Nil (2023: Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms of
HK$ Nil; Songxian wind farm of HK$0.3 million) and HK$0.1
million (2023: Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms of HK$1.1
million; Songxian wind farm of HK$0.2 million) respectively as
at 31 December 2024.

As it is difficult to precisely estimate fair value less costs
of disposal because quoted market prices for the Group’s
assets are not readily available, accordingly the value in
use calculation has been used which was based on the
key assumptions, including (i) average annual electricity
price increment at approximately zero growth based on
management’s expectation on market development and (ii)
projection of volume of electricity dispatched based on the
historical performances. The pre-tax discount rate applied
to the cash flow projection CGU in Siziwang Qi Phase | and
Il wind farms is 11.63% per annum (2023: Mudanjiang and
Muling wind farms and Songxian wind farm is 11.62% per
annum and 12.47% respectively).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a

(b)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and right-of-use
assets related to power plants in the Mainland
China (continueq)

As at 31 December 2024, based on the impairment
assessment and the value in use calculation, the recoverable
amounts on Siziwang Qi Phase | and Il wind farms have
been higher than the carrying amount and no impairment
losses have been recognised against the carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and right-
of-use assets, which are located in these windfarms and are
within the relevant function to which these assets relate (2023:
impairment of HK$19.8 million, HK$0.5 million and HK$0.3
million on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets, respectively located in Mudanjiang and
Muling wind farms; while no impairment losses have been
recognised on Songxian wind farm).

Judgement is required in the area of impairment. If there is
a significant adverse change in the key assumptions, it may
be necessary to have an impairment charge to the income
statement.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 3.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

Estimated impairment of associates

As at 31 December 2023, in view of one of the associates,
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited, which owns the
wind power project in Lunaobao (“Lunacbao wind farm”)
with its financial performance for the current year are worse
than the management’s expected, the Group performed
impairment assessment on this associate. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires
an estimation of the recoverable amount of the relevant
associate which is the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal.

The value in use calculation requires the management of
the Group to estimate its share of the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the
associate, including the cash flows from the operations of the
associate and the proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the
investment. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or
more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or
discount rate, a material reversal or further recognition of
impairment may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.

Based on the impairment assessment, impairment losses
of HK$10 million have been recognised against the carrying
amount of investment in associate on Lunaobao wind farm
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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mEMBEHRKRM T
5 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5 WREREMKA
The amount of each significant category of revenue and other AEABRZEETER = L EMBALE
income recognised during the year is as follows: Bz EEMT ¢
2024 2023
—ECoME —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Revenue Wz
Sales of electricity BEHHEE 163,065 181,337
Other income H g A
Value-added tax refund AR 5,079 5,999
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  HEREEZ
plant and equipment, net sk - FE8 14 -
Others EAh 95 13
5,188 6,012

Sales of electricity were all generated by the wind power plants and
a distributed solar project of the Group. The Group has a single
reportable segment which is renewable energy segment. As the
Group does not have significant material operations outside the
PRC, no geographic segment information is presented.

Included in sales of electricity of HK$81.1 million (2023: HK$91.6
million) represents tariff subsidies owed by the state-owned grid
companies which are financed by national renewable energy
fund to renewable energy projects in the PRC. Tariff subsidy is
recognised as sales of electricity and receivables from state-owned
grid companies in accordance with the relevant power purchase
agreements.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue for
reportable segment from external customers of HK$163.1 million
(2023: HK$181.3 million) is only attributable to the China market.

BENHEDREAEBEZRANEETU N
DHAAGEEER - NEBEES —ER
/AL IR BERRDH - A%
EERBEIRIINTEBERNEE  HBAEZ
5332 73 BRE #YL -

BENIHERESEBEERRAERZE
£ #HBE 81,100,000 T (Z T =4 :
91,600,000 7T ) + HEIR 0] F £ fLR
EomA Bz BAERE R #ETHE
e BEMMLBHABENEE W
REENHEERBEE TR R G EKE
/TA"

HE—_Z-_NMF+_A=+—HBLHF
B AEBRBINARFZAZEHR D
UL 25 A 163,100,000 T(ZF — =

% :181,300,000/8 L) - EREFE
mH -
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REMIBEHRME

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has three
customers with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group’s total
revenue (2023: three customers). Revenues from the customers
amounted to HK$69.2 million, HK$65.5 million and HK$23.7 million
(2023: HK$79.1 million, HK$72.1 million and HK$25.2 million)
respectively.

OTHER LOSSES

The amount of each significant category of other losses recognised
during the year is as follows:

Wi Rk HAUWAE)
HE-_Z-_NF+_A=+—HIL#F
E - AEEBE=ZRZEFP(ZE=_=F:
E%%ﬁ)ﬁﬁfau&%ﬁémﬁl ) iz

m2Z10% - REZERF 2 WED R
469,200,000/ 7T * 65,500,000 7
7T % 23,700,000 t(Z T = = F
79,100,000 7T * 72,100,000 7T &
25,200,000 7T) ©

Hibgsia
AKFRNERZSEZEMEIBERNZS
IR

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Impairment loss on property, Yz - MBS RREC
plant and equipment B EE - (19,793)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEZRERE — (519)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BREEZREER - (259)
Impairment loss on interests in associates REEE QR 2 w2 REER - (10,053)
~ (30,620)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has performed
impairment assessments on the CGU in Siziwang Qi Phase |
and Il wind farms (2023: Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms and
Songxian wind farm) with impairment indicators as described in
Note 4(a).

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has performed
impairment assessment on investment in an associate on
Lunaobao wind farm with impairment indicators as described in
Note 4(c).
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RE VI E|RMEE

7 EXPENSES BY NATURE

7 BREEIADZHX

2024 2023
—EC_E T =F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMEN &
- Audit services - B RTE (791) (790)
— Non-audit services —EEZRTS (120) (120)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) mEEEBE(NE17) (656) (685)
Depreciation of property, Vst - WS RRBITE
plant and equipment (Note 14) (FtzE14) (97,308) (101,174)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) (A ETE (M7 16) (1,424) (1,398)
Net exchange loss PE 3 B 18 58 (658) (5,011)
Employee benefit expenses EERFMAZ(BRE
(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 10)  EZ#E ) (£ 10) (27,507) (27,871)
Rental expenses relating to short-term leases  £242 #iFH S #HE #Y
HeER (2,092) (1,957)
Repair and maintenance expenses HIERRERY (6,799) (5,964)
Corporate expenses TEMAX (696) (807)
Legal and professional fees FERBEER (634) (2,676)
Management service fee EERBE (2,258) (2,483)
Other expenses HEmAx (19,712) (15,661)
Total cost of sales and HERARITHRER#E%E
administrative expenses (160,655) (166,597)
8 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 8 HMBEWARBMERA
2024 2023
—EC_4E —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Finance costs: BhE AR
— interest expenses on bank borrowings - RITERFEAX (14,598) (20,022)
— interest expenses on amount -EN—RBREZKIEZ
due to a shareholder (Note 28) FEFZ (KizE28) - (8,059)
Finance income: AT (14,598) (28,081)
— interest income on bank deposits —SRITFE R BU A 2,955 3,916
Finance costs — net BMEXA - F5E (11,643) (24,165)
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REMIBEHRME

9 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include four directors (2023: four) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 32. The
emoluments payable to the remaining one (2023: one) individual
during the year are as follows:

hTEEREMEAL

AEE AEBRLERSFALBEDN
Z(ZE-=F NE)ESE BEZMH
SERMTER25 2 HiTh REE - &
FEABRNBT—R(ZT-=4%F: —
ZVEBALZBSMT :

2024 2023
—ESE-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Basic salaries, housing allowances, HEAH - EE=28,
other allowances and benefits in kind H a2 R EYH = (1,200) (1,005)
Bonuses TE4L (156) (84)
Retirement scheme contributions BRRFTEIHE R (15) (18)
(1,371) (1,107)
The emoluments fell within the following band: MEZERDMTAT :

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
—EWF —E=F
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) B &R (B TT)
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 &t
2,000,00078 7T 1 1
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RE VI E|RMEE

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

10 EEEFMEX

2024 2023

—E-NF ZE=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Wages, salaries and other benefits ITE HekEAMmER (24,558) (25,157)

(Provision for)/reversal of unused annual leave
Pension costs — defined contribution

plan (Note a) & (fsEa)

Notes:

(@) The Group’s contribution to the employee pension scheme in the PRC is at
a percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective municipal
governments. The Group also participates in the MPF scheme under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

(b) Contributions totaling HK$36,000 (2023: HK$18,000) were payable under the
MPF scheme at 31 December 2024.

KERFBRZ (BE) #BL (60) 58
BIRERA - FEREER

(2,889) 2,772)

(27,507) (27,871)

Bet

(@ AKEETRERRASIEELZH-KTY
ZREETRAREZBSREL - AER
TREFBRIMERESHEEO AZEE
RIBGIEEZ REBREHEEESE - B
SR EIRMBEEEATEZ EEHEFRK
sHEl - REEEDIE  BEREEHAR
fRIE BB AZ 5% Mt 8IEHH3 f
B A 2 HEKRA LR &30,000/8 7T © MiH
Ve 2 HOREDR 558 -

) RZZE-—EFE+-—A=+—0 RBERES
FTEIE T 2 #5004 36,0008 T (=F
=1 :18,000/7C) °
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE FR8H % H

2024 2023
—EC_E T =F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Current income tax BIERRATIS R (4,730) (5,843)
Withholding tax on dividends BERE 2 TEME (3,162) (5,036)

Deferred income tax credit/(expense), EEATERER, ()
net (Note 25) FRE (P sE25) 3,960 (1,303)

Refund of withholding tax on dividends BEFEENRE

paid in prior years ZIBHBRE 228 7,905
Income tax expense Frisfi (3,704) (4,277)

Note: The share of income tax expense of associates of HK$8.8 million (2023:

HK$15.4 million) is included in the Group’s share of results of associates.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. Mainland China income tax includes corporate
income tax which has been provided on the estimated assessable
profits of subsidiaries operating in the Mainland China at a rate of

25% (2023: 25%), except below:

- One subsidiary of the Group (2023: two subsidiaries), under
the Enterprise Income Tax Law and its relevant regulations,
are entitled to tax concessions of 3-year full exemption
followed by 3-year 50% exemption commencing from the
respective years in which their first operating incomes were

derived; and
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mEe

11

ISR R MR

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

- Subsidiaries of the Group established in Inner Mongolia were
applicable to the enterprise income tax concession of the
Western Development in PRC and entitled to preferential
tax rate of 15% in 2024 (2023: 15%). According to the
announcement on continuation of enterprise income tax
concession in the Western Development published by the
MoF, the State Taxation Administration and the National
Development and Reform Commission on 23 April 2020, the
aforementioned subsidiaries were authorised to be taxed at
preferential tax rate of 15% till 31 December 2030.

- Pursuant to the approval of the tax bureau, in accordance
with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT
Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, two
(2023: none) subsidiaries are subject to the tax rate of 20%
on 25% of assessable profit, which assessable profits under
RMB1,000,000, for Small Low-Profit Enterprises.

Pursuant to EIT Law of PRC and the Detailed Implementation
Rules, distribution of the profits earned by the subsidiaries and
associates in the PRC is subject to the PRC withholding tax at
the applicable tax rates of 10%, accordingly withholding tax was
provided for dividends and undistributed profits of associates and
certain subsidiaries in the PRC at a rate of 10% up to 31 December
2024 (2023: 10%).

Pursuant to a double tax arrangement between the PRC and Hong
Kong, Hong Kong tax resident companies could enjoy a lower
withholding tax rate of 5%. During the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023, certain of the Group’s investment holding
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, which holds associates and subsidiaries
in the PRC has successfully obtained Hong Kong tax resident
companies. Accordingly, a refund of withholding tax on dividends
in prior years of HK$228,000 (2023: HK$7,905,000) has been
obtained from the PRC Tax Authority and 5% of withholding tax on
dividends has therefore been applied for these PRC subsidiaries/
associates during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

11

8B (&)

AEBEASHRLHWEBE A

ﬁ%#!@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁm
BE  —E_NFEF15%(ZF
ZEF 5% )MEERDE - BB
B BRBEHBR - BIRE
RANEZEEN T _ZTFN
AZ+=-H%MmOERTEERD
Kﬁ%m%ﬁ MERHLEL

FHHERAREEE15%HNER
R E —E=2F+=
A=+—HAIL -
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E LB S RE (TR
BREDREEMSREEHIE
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A 7B 1% 25% &Y JE B F)E (FE ¢
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax

11 ISR HE)

AREBAE/HRANEN 2 HE - BERAE
PFEEmME R 2 IEF AR ERE 2

rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: BimMIA s ZBOAT
2024 2023
—E-WmF —T_=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Profit before income tax FFr 15 %58 Al v 1 18,113 23,067
Less: Share of results of associates B EREEE A RIS (22,158) (57,100)
(4,045) (34,033)
Tax calculated at the tax rate, 25% H25% (2T =% : 25%) 2
(2023: 25%) MEFHEZWIE 1,011 8,508
Effect of different tax rates TRABER 2 1,925 (763)
Expenses not deductible for taxation b3
purpose (4,460) (12,886)
Income not subject to tax AR 2 WA 452 2,299
Tax losses not recognised RERZBIIEEE (3,658) (3,001)
Withholding tax on dividends and BERRRMBARZ
undistributed profits of associates BREAKRBEFER DK EF 2
and subsidiaries TR 798 (6,339)
Refund of withholding tax on dividends NS =UN
and undistributed profits of associates BHERE ﬂ’L k%5 /)E/ Mz
and subsidiaries FEHTR 228 7,905
Income tax expense FRSH s i (3,704) (4,277)

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

12 BRER

Rt H -
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12

13

B IS R R B
EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 12 BREFE)
2024 2023
—E-NFE —E-=
Profit attributable to equity holders of RRRERFFE AR T
the Company (HK$ thousand) (F%m) 16,475 23,281
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITL BRI TFIIE
shares in issue (thousand) (FR%) 2,506,157 2,506,157
Earnings per share (HK cents per share) FlRAEF(FRBW) 0.66 0.93
Basic and fully diluted earnings per share are the same as the REBEZE_Z-_NEER=_FT_=F+=-H
Company did not have any dilutive equity instruments throughout =+T—HIEFE  XRARLEEMEHE
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. MHERTE  WERARERZEWEE
AR SEMAR -
DIVIDENDS 13 KA
2024 2023
—E-WE —E=%F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHT FHET
2024 final dividend proposed, BR - ZMFEREARKRS
of HKO0.5 cents (2023: HK0.5 cents) BRI @A 0.5
per ordinary share ZEZ=F :0.5%80) 12,531 12,531
On 28 March 2025, the Board has resolved to declare a final RZZBEZRAF=A=Z+\A EF2z
dividend of HKO.5 cents per ordinary share payable in cash for the FRERBEE_ZT-_NMF+-_A=+—H
year ended 31 December 2024. As the proposed final dividend is FFERSRERE  §RTBR
declared after the reporting date, such dividend is not recognised 0.5l - AR ERE 2 RAFAR B
as liability as at 31 December 2024. WMEBHETIR  WTIHEZE _m F
+TZA=tT—H®mAaE-
On 20 August 2024, the Board has resolved not to declare any RZZEZMENAZ+TH  EFGRE
interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2024. TERHBEEZZ-_MOFA=THILR
& A 2 AR S -
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has resolved to HE-_ZT-_=—"F+-_H=1T—8H1 $
declare a final dividend of HKO.5 cents per ordinary share payable E E#Fg B&Eﬁtfﬁiﬁ%ﬂiﬁﬁ % 2
in cash, total of HK$12.5 million was paid in June 2024. f% & @ A% 0.5 781 - & 2£12,500, OOO /%
EEE/\\— = —Elf'z/\ﬂ i’iT
On 30 August 2023, the Board has resolved not to declare any )‘5(\121:@)\)5] =+H EF@HR
interim dividend for the six months ended 30 June 2023. EREEZE_—FA=1THIEX

IH AR HIRE -
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14 Y% - #BRRE

Electricity Furniture,
utility plant ~ fixtures and Motor
and others  equipment vehicles Total
BEHRE R EKE
EHAh B B BET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FAET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-B=-=5—-8—H
Cost D% 1,895,492 2,241 901 1,898,634
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (873,766) (1,961) (737) (876,464)
Accumulated impairment Z2EHRE (13,076) — — (13,076)
Net book amount REFE 1,008,650 280 164 1,009,094
Year ended 31 December 2023 B#@Z=—ZF=-=H+=#
=+—HIEFE
Opening net book amount FYIREFE 1,008,650 280 164 1,009,094
Currency translation differences  [E 4, & =% (27,899 @) (5) (27,911)
Additions NE 13,899 50 99 14,048
Disposal e (843) — — (843)
Impairment loss recognised PR RFERH
in profit or loss FEEE (19,793) — — (19,793)
Depreciation e (100,969) (115) (90) (101,174)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 873,045 208 168 873,421
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=A1
=+-—A
Cost %N 1,853,698 2,193 849 1,856,740
Accumulated depreciation 2EHinE (947,784) (1,985) 681) (950,450)
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (32,869) — — (32,869)
Net book amount REFE 873,045 208 168 873,421
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RE VI E|RMEE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

14 Y% - #BBERRE @)

Electricity Furniture,
utility plant fixtures and Motor
and others equipment vehicles Total
BERE KW #£EB
Hit R&E RE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 HBE—Z-_WE+=A
=t+t—HLEFE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 873,045 208 168 873,421
Currency translation differences [ 4,2 & =58 (25,284) 8) 6) (25,298)
Additions RE 795 150 98 1,043
Disposal e - — — -
Depreciation e (97,156) (67) (85) (97,308)
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 751,400 283 175 751,858
At 31 December 2024 R-B-_mWE+=A
=+-—A
Cost AR 1,796,069 2,227 825 1,799,121
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (1,011,800) (1,944) (650) (1,014,394)
Accumulated impairment 25HRE (32,869) — — (32,869)
Net book amount REFE 751,400 283 175 751,858
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s AETROBRDDHASESEEEA

property, plant and equipment with carrying values of HK$412.0
million (2023: HK$630.8 million) (Note 23).

412,000,000/ t(= & = = #F:
630,800,000/ 7T) 2 & T - #2s
A E IR (MIFE23) ©
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mEMBERRME

15 CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 15 H®EIRE
Total
st
HK$’000
FHExT
At 1 January 2023 N-E-_=F—HF—H 49
Currency translation differences fE R RE x5 ()
Additions NE 320
At 31 December 2023 RZZBZ=F+-A=+—H 364
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_WE—-A—H 364
Currency translation differences fEHIRE =5 (54)
Additions NE 1,846
Transfer to right-of-use assets EBRETHAELE (32)
At 31 December 2024 R=-ZB-OmOFE+=-HA=+—H 2,124
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mEMBEHRKRM T
16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16 EHAEEE
Total
et
HK$’000
FET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 10,768
Currency translation differences fEH e =5 (351)
Additions NE 4,951
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss REZAERREEE (519)
Depreciation e (1,398
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ_=F+-_A=+—H 13,451
At 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_WE—-A—H 13,451
Currency translation differences I E =58 (423)
Additions NE 129
Transfer from construction in progress ERETEIE 32
Depreciation e (1,424)
At 31 December 2024 R-IEBE-WNE+=ZA=

As at 31 December 2024, the net book amount of the Group’s
right-of-use assets consist of rentals of lands of HK$11.8 million
(2023: HK$13.2 million) with lease term of 50 years.

The total cash outflow of lease is amounted to HK$2.0 million
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$2.0 million).

+—A 11,765

R-ZE-_NF+-_HA=+—H ££H
JEAREERREIMEE KRR
F{EA11,800,000 8 T(ZE =4 :
13,200,000 7T) RHE A 504 °

REBE-_Z-_NF+_-_A=+—HItF
E - HERS RN E%A2,000,000%
T(ZE =4 :2,000,000#7T) °
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HEMBRERME
17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BEREE
Computer Concession
software right Total
EISE R 4BET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FAT FAET TET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—-—HA—H
Cost [DEN 3,510 185,238 188,748
Accumulated amortisation REHEHEMRE
and impairment (2,787) (183,642) (186,429)
Net book amount BRTEFE 723 1,596 2,319
Year ended 31 December 2023 B@Z_—ZT_=-=f
+ZA=+—BHLEFE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 723 1,596 2,319
Currency translation differences  [E i, & =% (20) (46) (66)
Additions =1 59 — 59
Impairment loss recognised P8 AR R E E B
in profit or loss (24) (231) (255)
Amortisation By (331) (354) (685)
Closing net book amount FREREFE 407 965 1,372
At 31 December 2023 R=-=E==
+=A=+-—H
Cost DN 3,478 179,950 183,428
Accumulated amortisation RETEHE RRE
and impairment (8,071) (178,985) (182,056)
Net book amount REFE 407 965 1,372
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18

ISR R MR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continuead)

17 BREE#)

Computer Concession
software right Total
B 1SR et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT FET FET
Year ended 31 December 2024 HZE_—Z 44
TZA=+—HBLEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 407 965 1,372
Currency translation differences [ X & =58 (14) (39) (49)
Additions NE 53 - 53
Amortisation 5 (309) (347) (656)
Closing net book amount FIRERE FE 137 583 720
At 31 December 2024 R-E-WMEF
+=—A=+—H
Cost (DN 3,427 174,268 177,695
Accumulated amortisation ZEH S R E
and impairment (3,290) (173,685) (176,975)
Net book amount IREFE 137 583 720
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18 REtERNT 2R
2024 2023
—E-WEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Group’s share of net assets AEEELEEFE 769,493 834,226
Less: impairment loss B OREEE (10,053) (10,053)
759,440 824,173
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mEMBERRME
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REEE QT 2R (E)
The following financial information, after making adjustments to THHBEER(EHABUEREEEAKR
conform with the Group’s significant accounting policies, represents EHBE—R)NAEEAS EREERE
the Group’s aggregate share of assets, liabilities, revenue and Na(BEHAIFELTARZEE - B
results of associates, all of which are unlisted, and is summarised & WEREE - BT
as below:
2024 2023
—E-F T =F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Assets BE 853,912 962,289
Liabilities BfE (84,419) (128,063)
Net assets BEFME 769,493 834,226
Revenue Wezs 138,792 189,713
Profit for the year ANE 22,158 57,100
Particulars of the associates are set out on Note 33. B N A FFIBE AR MIFE33 ©
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RE VI E|RMEE

18

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information for the
associates of the Group.

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31

18 REERNT zEH#)
THESEAEEY 2R E 2 HBEERR

it o

BEt-A=T-HLFEEZES

December EY 3
CECIC HKC Wind Power ~ CECIC HKE Wind Power  CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
THRBRENEE TEHRBERNEE hEER(ER)
(RE)BRAR (RIE)BRAR BOREERAA @it

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“ECNE B ZBIME —B-ZF ZBCMF —T-=F ZB-ME —T-=F

HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000

TER FET FTER FET FTER FET FTER FET

Revenue Uz 140,816 193,038 85,513 67,864 142,029 230,346 368,358 491,248

Other expense Hi% (46,730) (43,121) (15,160) (51,686) (39,415) (31,876) (101,305 (126,683)

Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (74,414) (77,054) (43,578) (45,337) (76,269) (76,808)  (194,261)  (199,199)

Finance costs - net BARK 58 462 (1,211) (495) (2,740) 379 886 346 (3,065)

Current income tax expense BEMEHRIN (10,423) (23,340) (15,619) (1,408) (6,827) (21,253) (32,869) (46,001)

Deferred income tax credit ETFEREE 6,195 6,309 9,202 9,372 4,697 4784 20,094 20,465

Profit/{loss) for the year AEERR/(B8) 15,906 54,621 19,863 (23,935) 24,594 106,079 60,363 136,765

Other comprehensive loss Ht2EER (24,231) (18,117) (11,049) 9,212) (26,872) (19,621) (62,152) (46,950)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2 WA,/ (518 @5 (8,325) 36,504 8,814 (33,147 (2,278) 86,458 (1,789) 89,815
Dividends declared by BENANAEESR

associates to the Group Z2IE (24,168) (21,695) - 2,915) (38,968) (34,849) (63,136) (59,459)
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REMBEBRM T
18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 18 REEE QT 2R (E)
Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 RT+-ZBA=1+t—HZHHEARREKE
December it
CECIC HKC Wind Power ~ CECIC HKE Wind Power  CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
THEBERNZE FEEBERNIRE hEREBE(ER)
(R)ERAR (R3)ERAR BEHREERAF et
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
—EBCME —T-=F ZB-ME —FE-=fF Z—B-_NE —ZE-=F C—B-_ME —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$000  HKS'000 HK$000  HKS'000 HK$000  HKS'000 HK$'000
TAT THET TAT FHEL TAT FHEL TAT FHET
Non-current assets FRBEE 624,562 744,051 316,636 362,448 676,845 786977 1,618,043 1,893,476
Current assets HEAE 257,458 224,639 69,722 64,280 286,146 330,008 613,326 618,927
Total assets BESE 882,020 968,690 386,358 426,728 962,991 1,116,985 2,231,369 2,512,403
Non-current liabilities FRBBE 61,674 69,779 2,313 938 24,170 29,697 88,157 100,414
Current liabilities HEAE 25,115 34,934 22,694 73,253 81,334 130,104 129,143 238,291
Total liabilities afEeE 86,789 104,713 25,007 74,191 105,504 159,801 217,300 338,705
Net assets BEFE 795,231 863,977 361,351 352,537 857,487 957,184 2,014,069 2,173,698
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18

ISR R MR

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31
December (continued)

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
financial statements of the associates adjusted for any fair value
adjustments made at the time of acquisition.

18 RBERNT 2E=(#)

R+t=ZA=+—Bz2HBARRRHE
(&)

FRERRREERRRMBRERZ 2
JIEFE BBEERELZEAATE

Recongiliation of the summarised financial information presented to REBRAEBERNREREEIBEZYZ
the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in its associates: 75 A KL AR
CECIC HKC Wind Power ~ CECIC HKE Wind Power  CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
THEBERNZE REEBERNIRE hERBR(ER)
(RI)ERAR (R3)ERAR BEHREERAF et
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
—EBCME —T-=F ZB-NME —FE-=fF Z—B-_NE —ZE-=F —B-_ME —T-=F
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$O000
FAT THET TAT FHEL TAT FHEL TET FHET
At 1 January ®—R—A
Opening net assets FNEEFE 863,977 881,709 352,537 395,401 957,184 957,846 2,173,698 2,234,956
Profit/(loss) for the year AEERR/(B8) 15,906 54,621 19,863 (23,935) 24,504 106,079 60,363 136,765
Other comprehensive loss Ht2EER (24,231) (18,117) (11,049) 9,212) (26,872) (19,621) (62,152) (46,950)
Dividends BE (60,421) (54,236) - 9,717) (97,419) (87,1200 (157,840)  (151,079)
At 31 December ®+=A=+—-H
Closing net assets FREETE 795,231 863,977 361,351 352,537 857,487 957,184 2,014,069 2,173,698
Reporting entities’ share in % BEEEME 40% 40% 30% 30% 40% 40% N/A N/A
ZEAL TEA TEf
Group's interests in associates AEERBE AR
KR 318,093 345,591 108,405 105,761 342,995 382,874 769,493 834,226
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REMBEBRM T
19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 19 FEMNAR - BWARR R H B WK
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—EME —TZ=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
[ihg=2 FERT FET
Non-current ERE
Other receivables R G (b) 8,598 17,259
Current Eh
Trade receivables FEULER SR @) 322,330 289,572
Prepayments and other receivables FEAT 3 M HoAth e U 3k (b) 32,977 55,771
355,307 345,343
363,905 362,602
Notes: Hiaz -
(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the Group’s revenue (@) RER  RAEBEREERBRE D 2 B
recognition policy at year end was as follows: BRRIRE D ATAN T -
2024 2023
—EoMF e ———
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Less than 30 days D30 H 35,272 28,830
More than 30 days and within 60 days HBA30HERE0AR 8,841 7,778
More than 60 days and within 90 days B0 HIER 0 AR 6,302 5,366
More than 90 days B0 B 271,915 247,598
322,330 289,572
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RE VI E|RMEE

19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER

Notes: (continued)

(a)

19 B

+ PR B R B EL Ath FB UK

RECEIVABLES (continued) (%)
Hiat - (&)
(continued) (a) (%)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice date at year end was as RER - REZBHE D 2 ERERFERER H
follows: W -
2024 2023
—EB-MF ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAET
Less than 30 days D30 B 312,598 279,740
More than 30 days and within 60 days HBiEH30HER 60 HA — -
More than 60 days and within 90 days BiEe0 HIER 0 AR - —
More than 90 days HBiE90 H 9,732 9,832
322,330 289,572

®)

The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its trade customers from invoice
date. The Group does not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.
Receivables (other than the tariff subsidy receivables) from sales of electricity
are usually settled on a monthly basis by the state-owned grid companies.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables were tariff subsidy receivables of
HK$308.1 million (2023: HK$281.3 million) which represented the government
subsidies on renewable energy projects to be received from the stated-owned
grid companies. The tariff subsidy receivables will be settled upon the MoF’s
allocation of the national renewable energy fund to the state-owned grid
companies. The MoF does not set out a rigid timetable for the settlement of
tariff subsidy receivables. In the opinion of the directors, given the collection of
tariff subsidy receivables is well supported by the government policy, all tariff
subsidy receivables were expected to be fully recoverable. As the collection of
tariff subsidy receivables is expected in the normal operating cycle, they are
classified as current assets.

Tariff subsidy receivables of HK$298.4 million (2023: HK$271.5 million) was
unbilled and has been classified under ‘less than 30 days’ in the above ageing
analysis, while the remaining of HK$9.7 million (2023: HK$9.8 million) has
issued invoices.

Included in current and non-current other receivables were input value-added
taxation recoverable of HK$19.4 million (2023: HK$28.3 million) arising from
purchase of property, plant and equipment, and dividend receivables from
associates of HK$14.5 million (2023: HK$36.6 million).

AEBERAESEPRHEAERAHESD
30 A ZEEH - AEREYN ERA EZFRIK
BB B 2 AR IR o %ﬁiﬁ‘ﬁz%u&ﬁﬁ

REREEHUBRINBEARAEEAEA
TRH L5 o
AEBERERFPREEREEW
#£308,100,000% (= T = = 4:
281,300,000/ 7T ) + It TR B A B A A
FEW Z AT R A RLIRE B RS HAL - EKEE
RS B ([ ) mBEAEE AR

BRERABELERESRAEST - MEEBR
EBENERMUERINERE - 2
ERA - ENEKEEBMSIBFBEN
ANZF RBRKEERBET I 2ER
Bl - AREREEHETRAEESEEEH
AR - E B E S ERREEE o

ELroBE®RI>TP BREB

85298,400,00048 (= T = = &F:

271,500,000 L) ARHAEEE  WHEA

[b30H ] M E#9,700,0008 L(=F
— =% : 9,800,000 L) ERAEKE -

i

ST AR B I FE R B A i B U R R AT AR 1
I 3% {8 £ 19,400,000 T(—Z T — = & :
28,300,000/ 7T) * WREEE M - #aE
KB e - R FE U 2 A & B% 214,500,000
EL(ZZT =4 :36,600,000/87T) °
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REMBEBRM T
19 PREPAYMENTS, TRADE AND OTHER 19 FAME - ERERREmERK
RECEIVABLES (continued) (%)
Notes: (continued) Hiat - (&)
(© The carrying amount of the Group’s prepayments, trade and other receivables (© AEEBEMK - EURER K E M ERRZ IR
is denominated in the following currencies: EENATHIEEEE
2024 2023
—EIOF =5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Hong Kong dollars I 360 604
Renminbi AR 363,459 361,909
Singapore dollars o 86 89
363,905 362,602
(@) The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value (@) REERBHEERR &= BER LIS ER
of each class of receivables mentioned above. FEMK 2 BREE -
Bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group’s trade receivables with R 7718 3R Ty B AN & [ BR [ 18 74,900,000 7
carrying values of HK$74.9 million (2023: HK$158.3 million) (Note 23). JE(=Z = =4 : 158,300,000 7T ) 2 & T
FEU AR FRAE AR (FT 35 23) -
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 RERRESEEY
2024 2023
—E-NF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Cash at bank and in hand WITRFHERE 199,070 164,290
Bank deposits with original maturities of REHAR LR =1{E A
less than three months RITFER 33,100 -
232,170 164,290
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FE KRR
20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continuea) 20 RERRESEEWE)
2024 2023
—E-NF ZE=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEY
(@)  Placed in banks in the PRC: (a) TFHARFBEZIRT:
— denominated in Renminbi —UAR®E 108,442 104,878
— denominated in Hong Kong dollars —AABTTEE 29,514 29,454
— denominated in US dollars —LAETTEHE - 30
(b)  Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b) TFHRAREBSRT:
— denominated in Hong Kong dollars —AABTTEHE 76,365 12,518
— denominated in Renminbi —UAR®SHE 150 235
— denominated in US dollars —AFEITFHE 17,660 17,135
() Cashinhand (c) FEER2 39 40
232,170 164,290

The effective interest rates at the reporting date were as follows:

RiE B2 BERMENT

2024 2023
—E-_NE —E-=F
HK$ RMB usD HK$ RMB usD
BT AR® EY BT AR E
Bank deposits with original R Z|HIH 4
maturities of less than R=EAH 0.3% N/A 0.5% 0.3% N/A 0.5%
three months RITIFR -4.5% TE -4.5% -4.3% THEA -4.3%

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value of the cash and bank balance stated above.

Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$138.0 million (2023: HK$134.4
million) are held in the Mainland China and are subject to local
exchange control regulations, under which the balances could not
be exported freely out of the Mainland China. The repatriation of
fund out from the Mainland China is possibly conducted by way of
dividends or other means as complied to the regulations.

RBEBRH  Ke2EERRS XA
MR e MIRITHERZ REE

= KPRl
RABERESFENR IR EE
#7138,000,000/%8 (= & = = &

134,400,000/ 7T ) /8 8 1& & 1 SME &
HARE B REERTEEHED
REARE - BB BRE REAMEST
HE R 77 R BR R o
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REMBIRRMEE

21 SHARE CAPITAL 21 A

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
BREMEVIBIZEEBR

Number of
shares HK$'000
igvig- 4= FHET
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER -
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZE=F—H—H"
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 —E-=F+-A=+—08-
—EoMF-A—BR
—EMFtTZA=1—H 2,506,157,464 25,062
22 RESERVES 22 A&
Share Exchange Statutory Retained
premium reserve Reserve earnings Total
REE BN EERE REER oHY
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TEx TER TERT
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZZ=4—-R—Bz&H 925,856 (48,117) 28,077 987,581 1,893,397
Currency translation differences BEHREEE
- subsidiaries VNG - (29,225) - - (29,225)
- associates =N - (17,858) - - (17,858)
Dividend paid Bk - - - (12,531) (12,531)
Transfer to statutory reserve BREETRE - - 4,002 (4,002) -
Profit for the year REEEF - - - 23,281 23,281
Balance at 31 December 2023 W-Z-=F
TZRA=+—HzEH 925,856 (95,200) 32,079 994,329 1,857,064
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZZZME-A—B2&H 925,856 (95,200) 32,079 994,329 1,857,064
Currency translation differences B X AE =
- subsidiaries -WEBAF - (30,680) - - (30,680)
- associates N -UNG - (23,755) - - (23,755)
Dividend paid BRRE - - - (12,531) (12,531)
Transfer to statutory reserve BREETRHE - - 2,960 (2,960) -
Profit for the year KEFEF - - - 16,475 16,475
Balance at 31 December 2024 RZZ-WF
TZA=T—HBzEH 925,856 (149,635) 35,039 995,313 1,806,573
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RE VI E|RMEE

L,
23 BANK BORROWINGS 23 RITHEN
2024 2023
—EMF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FET
Non-current FERB 195,261 244,461
Current R 32,371 43,339
227,632 287,800
Notes: HisF
(a) The maturity of bank borrowings at the reporting date is as follows: (@) RIS BERITIERZEIBBE T ¢
2024 2023
—E-ME e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Within one year —FR 32,371 43,339
In the second year F-F 32,498 42,834
In the third to fifth year F-FEFERF 97,515 100,672
After the fifth year HEE 65,248 100,955
227,632 287,800
) The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following (b) BRZEEEER T E8E -
currencies:
2024 2023
—EIMF =5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Renminbi AR 227,632 287,800
227,632 287,800
(© The effective interest rate for variable rate bank borrowings at the reporting (©) AEMERITERRRE AR 2 ERFE
date was 4.20% at 5 years loan prime rate plus 0.25% (2023: 4.45% at 5 B4.20% (A FHERTSHREF E M
years loan prime rate plus 0.25%). The effective interest rate for fixed rate bank 0.25%FtE)(ZTZ=F : 4.45% (R R F
borrowings at the reporting date was 6.30% (2023: 6.30%). HERTSREFNEN0.25%H)) -
EFERITERRBREBHZEBRMNER
6.30% (ZZT==4 : 6.30%) °
(@) Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and equipment and (@) BITERDUAREEE TYE KR RRE

trade receivables of the Group (Notes 14 and 19).

Ko FEM AR SR AR R4 (FT5E 14 )2 19) »
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23

24

P ISR R M =

BANK BORROWINGS (continuea)

Notes: (continueaq)

(e The Group had drawn all bank borrowing facility as at 31 December 2024 and
2028.

U} The carrying amount of the fixed rate bank borrowings as at 31 December
2024 is HK$NIl (2023: HK$28.2 million). The carrying amount of the remaining
bank borrowings issued at variable rates of HK$227.6 million (2023: HK$259.6
million) are approximate to their fair values.

AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The Company entered into a loan facility agreement with Creator
Holdings Limited (a company indirectly wholly-owned by Mr.
OEl Kang, Eric), under which the Company might borrow up
to HK$300.0 million until 31 December 2024. Such loan facility
agreement had been renewed on 1 November 2023 and the
availability period had been extended until 31 July 2025. The loan
was unsecured, interest bearing at 3.5% per annum over one-
month HIBOR on outstanding principal amount and was repayable
on demand. The balance is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group repaid the
outstanding loan balance amounting HK$165.0 million. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Company had no outstanding loan
and interest expense payable and the loan facility had not been
drawn by the Company.

On 1 August 2023, the Company entered into a loan facility
agreement with Genesis Ventures Limited (a company indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric), under which the Company
might borrow up to HK$300.0 million until 31 July 2025. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the loan facility had not been drawn by
the Company.
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28,200,000/ 7T ) » tA LA & F LB E &
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259,600,000/ 7T ) 2 B [H 8 8 5 A~ FE A8
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oo
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RE VI E|RMEE

25 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 25 EEFRSHEE
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year are AFEEA REMSHABEZZHN
as follows: Nk
Fair value
adjustment
arising from
business  Withholding
combinations tax Total
REEKEO
ZAFEFAE FENH e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FExT FET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H 494 (82,795) (32,301)
Currency translation differences EHME =5 44 891 935
Credited/(charged) to the profit FR&ERA(ZH)
or loss (Note 11) (FFzE11) 294 (1,597) (1,303)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F
+=A=+—H 832 (83,501) (32,669)
At 1 January 2024 W-Z-mE—HF—H 832 (33,501) (32,669)
Currency translation differences JE R E E 5 (40) 914 874
Credited to the profit or loss (Note 11) Bz &k A (ME11) 288 3,672 3,960
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWEF
tZA=+—H 1,080 (28,915) (27,835)
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of ZK%IE?’%E?% 58,400,000 7T(—
HK$14.4 million (2023: HK$11.2 million) in respect of losses T — = : 45,700,000 7T ) HERIE T
amounting to HK$58.4 million (2023: HK$45.7 million) that can be ﬁfr SHEE14,400,0008 0 (ZE ==
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax losses % 111,200,000 7T ) A A s 4K 88 H
have no expiry dates except tax losses of HK$55.6 million (2023: BRERRABTWA - ZEHBEBLEE
HK$42.9 million) which will expire at various dates up to 2029 (2023: FBRE] - #55,600,0008 T(Z ==
2028). % 42,900,0007% 7T ) 2 T I8 & 18 Rl
REBEEZEZZ-_NF(ZTEZ=F: =%
ZN\FE) Iz AR B HEER
As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax liabilities of HK$5.8million RZE-_ME+-_A=1+—H8 " #RX
(2023: HK$5.3 million) have not been recognised for the withholding EELMESI TR E 20 AR -

tax at a rate of 5% (2023: 5%) that would be payable on the
undistributed retained earnings of subsidiaries of the Group, as the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

BREREEZEEBRNRKRARE
TeEE - Fi I ERAEBEK B AR
BRDIRREBIILZH L% (Z T ==
F5%) st EMEMENHRERELER
1H & 5,800,000 T(Z T = = :
5,300,000 7T) °
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mEMBERRME
26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 ENERAREMEMSK
2024 2023
—E-F —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Trade payables FETRR R 481 506
Payables for acquisition and construction EEBERERME -
of property, plant and equipment W28 R 2 R R 43,114 46,733
Other payables and accruals HEMEMREEGTER 7,673 7,806
51,268 55,045

The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date at year end ~ RER + IZHZEHHE D 2 B BR R IRER DT

was as follows: O
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Less than 12 months L1218 A 481 493
12 months and more 1218 A &I E - 13
481 506

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables are

AR 87 FEA BR AR e EL A 5 32 BR T (B 4% A

denominated in the following currencies: TE®BIE :

2024 2023
—E-MEF —F==

HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Hong Kong dollars BT 2,700 2,143
Renminbi AR 48,520 52,856
Singapore dollars ot 48 46
51,268 55,045
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RE VI E|RMEE

27 COMMITMENTS 27 &I
(a) Capital commitments (a) EXEE
Capital expenditure at the reporting date but not yet incurred R EAMEAEERREAZ
was as follows: BEARAZET :
2024 2023
—E-E —Eo=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTEx FAET
Contracted but not provided for BRI B R ERE
capital expenditure in respect of ATAALIRIBRZ
renewable energy projects BRI BE 5,618 —
(b) Lease commitments (b) FHEFRE
As at 31 December 2024, the total future lease payments for RZE-_WF+—A=+—8"
leases committed and not yet commenced in respect of land I REFEEMEME R
and buildings were HK$0.02 million (2023: HK$0.02 million). IMHEEBNRKENEE RLE
/20,0007 (= & = = F:
20,000/ 7T) °
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 28 BABARS

28

The Group entered into transactions with the following related
parties for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, in
addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements.

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
entered into an office sharing agreement with HKC,
under which HKC agreed to lease out certain area of the
office space during the period from 1 January 2024 to 31
December 2024 in consideration of HK$1.6 million (2023:
HK$1.4 million). The fee was charged based on the terms
mutually agreed. Besides, rooftop rental of HK$0.4 million
(2023: HK$0.4 million) was paid to the Huzhou Nanxun
International Building Market Center Company Limited, which
is a subsidiary under HKC. The fee was charged based on
the terms mutually agreed.

FEBLERREERAT |

HEz_ZT-_NMFR-_FT-_=ZF+=-A
=+—BIEFE  BREAVBREREM
MR IN - ANEE S E T 5@ S
RIMINTRS o

@ #H=EZZ-_WNF+-_A=+—HL
FE ARBHEBERRIL—H
MAEEZRZE - Bt BFER
EEHAETHAZTEMERE - #
REA-_ZE-_WF—HA—Hz2_-Z%
“WE+-A=+—H1 KRB
£1,600,000/870 (ZE=-=%F:
1,400,000 7L) - E&BAZRIE
& KR E 2 &M BER o
G MBS EZETHB M
ESBREM AR AR ZNEIE
F£400,00087C (ZT==4%F:
400,000%87T) - HEAZRIEE
77 H R E 2GRN
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REMIBEHRME

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

()

Administrative services fee, which includes the office
overhead, and reimbursement of cost of internal audit, legal,
human resources, administrative and information technology
department of HK$2.3 million (2023: HK$2.5 million) was paid
to HKC. The fee was charged based on the terms mutually
agreed.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, interest expenses
on amount due to a shareholder amounted to HK$Nil (2023:
HK$8.0 million).

The above related party transactions are continuing connected
transactions exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

(d)

(e)

Key management compensation

Key management solely represents directors of the Company.
The compensation paid or payable to key management is
shown as below:

28 BBAERZE(E)

(b)

(d)

MESEEZHFITHREER -
BREBAEEEAS  UWRER
NEERT AR ANER 17
B R & R EBPI AL 282,300,000
B (ZE =% : 2,500,000/%
L) cHEARREBEEFHERZT
ZAGSRTUER ©

HE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIL
FE REN—BREZIBEZF
ERYXATET (Z2_=F:
8,000,000/%7T) -

LB AR PRIEHZFTES £
MR ( [EMRE] ) %14A.33
AN ERRETHEBAR  FE
Bz A RIES REAERTE 2
BEBERS -

TEGEA S HH
TEERABBEAATEE B
MM EEEA R Y BB
T

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=4F

HK$’000 HK$' 000

FET FHET

Directors’ fees FE0E 809 831

Salaries and other benefits Fre MEMEF 5,916 7,349
Pension cost - defined RIRE A - TERHERK

contribution scheme Bl 65 72

6,790 8,252

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantee
in respect of a bank borrowing to an associate with an
outstanding amount of HK$Nil (2023: HK$13.2 million).

The above transactions did not constitute connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the Stock
Exchange.
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e M BHRRME

29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29
CASH FLOWS
(@ Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (@)

generated from operations

RERERNBRME

FEBaaRERERERE
Z iR

2024 2023
—E-@WEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FHET
Profit before income tax FFr 45 758 Al A1 18,113 23,067
Finance costs BLE KA 14,598 28,081
Finance income B U A (2,955) (3,916)
Depreciation and amortisation e LB 99,388 103,257
Impairment loss of property, plant Y - R LR ERESE
and equipment - 19,793
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets FREEERERE — 519
Impairment loss of intangible assets mREEREBEESE - 255
Impairment loss of interests in an iNGAYNCIR 5l
associate HEEE — 10,053
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEWME - SRR HE
plant and equipment, net (W) /BB - 58 (14) 59
Share of results of associates FE(REEE R R A (22,158) (57,100)
Operating profit before working EBESEBAI KL RN
capital changes 106,972 124,068
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFERL(Em) 2,046 (1,480)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and JRE LT B 350 % L At R LKL K
other receivables (), md (39,169) 14,015
Increase in trade and other payables JE AF B R K L Ath JE < FUAE N 5,426 1,420
Cash generated from operations KERBEe 75,275 138,023
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REMBIRRMEE

29 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

(b)

activities

29

Liabilities from financing activities

mERSRERMEE)
(b) BEEFBELENESEHIR

METHREEE
Interest
payable
(included Amount
Bank in other duetoa
borrowings payables) shareholder Total
PRI 2
(Gt AE A R —2
RAITER AR IR R IE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FTExT FEx FEx
At 1 January 2024 RZZE-WF
—A—H (287,800) (56) - (287,856)
Cash outflows — principal, net Bemt -4~ F8 53,859 - - 53,859
Cash outflows — interest Bemt —Fafdn
payment — 14,653 - 14,653
Capitalisation and amortisation ~ $R1TEE &M
of upfront fee for bank Alm BRI E b
facility fee, net k3 N & (2,448) - - (2,448)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ 9MEFH# 8,757 1 - 8,758
Accrued interest expenses FE X T - (14,598) - (14,598)
At 31 December 2024 R_T_MEF
+=-A=+—H (227,632) - - (227,632)
At 1 January 2023 NZE-=%F
—HA—H (440,869) (420) (167,931) (609,220)
Cash outflows — principal, net Bemm—A&  F5% 145,096 - 165,000 310,096
Cash outflows — interest Bemm —FEe[n
payment - 19,877 10,834 30,711
Capitalisation and amortisation ~ $R1TEE &M
of upfront fee for bank Alm BRI E A b
facility fee, net k3 I 2,117) — - 2,117)
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMNE 10,090 509 — 10,599
Accrued interest expenses B MER - (20,022) (7,903) (27,925)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZTBZ=F
+-A=+—H (287,800) (56) - (287,856)
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RE VI E|RMEE

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

30 REFIES2EWMTA

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
REBEHRATE
ZERMEE
HK$’000
FExT
Assets as per consolidated statement of REEUBERRRTREE
financial position
31 December 2023 —E_=F+HA=+—8H
Trade and other receivables & Ui BR 3k Kz i LUK 357,506
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) ReRREEEYW(HFE20) 164,290
Total 5T 521,796
31 December 2024 —E-NF+=—A=+—H
Trade and other receivables JFE LA B 0 R L At FE MR SR 358,936
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) ReRRSEEY(HFFE20) 232,170
Total @5t 591,106
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
REBEHRATE
ZEMEE
HK$’000
FExT
Liabilities as per consolidated statement of REGEUBERRRFARERE
financial position
31 December 2023 —E_=F+HA=+—8H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) RITEF(KIFE23) 287,800
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FERTBR SR K B b FE S sk (M9 5E 26) 55,045
Total 5T 342,845
31 December 2024 —E-NF+=ZA=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) HRITER(KMIFE23) 227,632
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FERTRR 3R K B b FE S sk (MY 5 26) 51,268
Total BET 278,900
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HEMBRERME
31 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31 AP EMBERARRBFZEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Statement of financial position of the Company NI B
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
M FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries S EENGIA: E - —
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b fE UL TR 264 147
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE UL B /B A &) FRIE 950,629 1,057,686
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 93,181 28,823
Total current assets REBEEHEE 1,044,074 1,086,656
Total assets EEMARE 1,044,074 1,086,656
EQUITY E
Capital and reserves attributable to  AAFEEFHA
equity holders of the Company ERERR#E
Share capital [N 25,062 25,062
Reserves i a 759,906 799,277
Total equity EREE 784,968 824,339
Current liabilities REBaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT I B A B3R 257,726 261,247
Other payables H b FERT 1,380 1,070
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 259,106 262,317
Total liabilities EEHAHE 259,106 262,317
Total equity and liabilities EERBEAE 1,044,074 1,086,656
OEIl Kang, Eric WONG Jake Leong, Sammy
= EER
Director Director
EF EF
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mEe

31

BB BRENE
i o o
L7 L "
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 31 ARAMBRARRZBEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (%)
(continued)
Note (a) Reserves movement of the Company Mzt (a) AN D A2 B
Other
Share Exchange reserve  Accumulated
premium reserve (Note) loss Total
Hitv G
R EE B A e (Hiat) ZitEE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER
Balance at 1 January 2023 RZE-=F
—RA—Rz&% 925,856 (22,529) 98,709 (82,408) 919,628
Currency translation differences  [EHAE =% - (27,187 - - (27,187)
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (12,531) (12,531)
Loss for the year KEEER - - - (80,633) (80,633)
Balance at 31 December 2023 HR-Z-=F
+-A=t—8
R 925,856 (49,716) 98,709 (175,572) 799,277
Balance at 1 January 2024 RZTZMF
—A—Bz&#® 925,856 (49,716) 98,709 (175,572) 799,277
Currency translation differences B AE =48 - (26,054) - - (26,054)
Dividend paid ERRE - - - (12,531) (12,531)
Loss for the year AEEESE - - - (786) (786)
Balance at 31 December 2024 ~ HM-Z-MF
+=R=+-8
LR 925,856 (75,770) 98,709 (188,889) 759,906

Note: The other reserve of the Company related to an acquisition prior to 1 January

2001 and continues to be held in reserves.

Bfet - ARBZ EMREHEE-_EE—F—A—HA
Z-RWEERAR  THREBTERET -
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REMBIRRMEE

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND 32 BEERTHARS2EGAN R ER

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive officer is
set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BEENMITHREHOFMOT -

BE-_ZT-NF+_A=+—HIFE

Employer’s
contribution

Discretionary to a retirement

Fees Salaries* bonuses* benefit scheme* Total
Bikeitdlz

Name of Director EEHF e g WAL EEHR @3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERT TER

OEl Kang, Eric* =l 75 2,417 201 18 2,711
OFEl Valonia Lau" A= 44 703 59 10 816
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy BER 75 1,398 17 18 1,608
LEE Shiu Yee, daniel PER 75 1,398 117 18 1,608
CHENG Yuk Wo HHA 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan HE 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi RIER 180 - - - 180
809 5,916 494 64 7,283
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RE VI E|RMEE

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND 32 EERTHEARZENRESR

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (continued)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive officer is
set out below: (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

(%)
BEEENTREHNFHMOT - (B)

HE_Z-_=-F+-_A=+—HILHFE

Employer’s

contribution

Discretionary  to a retirement
Fees Salaries* bonuses*  benefit scheme* Total

RKEErElZ
Name of Director EERZ e et BB EAL EEHHR FEy
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THEL THEx FTHET THT
OEl Kang, Eric* i 75 2,368 198 18 2,659
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel® 2RO 66 1,090 104 16 1,276
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EER 75 1,371 114 18 1,578
LEE Shiu Yee, Daniel FER 75 1,371 114 18 1,578
CHENG Yuk Wo gl 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan BE)I 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi CE S 180 - - - 180
831 6,200 530 70 7,631

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group. The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric is the chief executive officer of the Group

A Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau has been appointed as executive director of Group on 31
May 2024.

@ Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel has resigned as executive director in 15
November 2023 and kept chief financial officer position until 31 December
2023.

# The amounts represented emoluments in respect of services provided

in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries undertaking.

ERHTEENHE SRRFREHEER
RARAREEEKEREHENORSE - £
MBI TESOME RABFIER
AABEEREH R MESHNE -

EM A RAEEZTRAH

FBLITR -_ZE-_WFRA=+—BEZE
RPITES -

@ RERFAER T =ZF+—-ATHARE
HOTERWRERFERUBERUE—F
—=F+t-A=+—-H-

# HeB\AKREREEARAARSHNEB AR
EHAREEN TR -
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REMIBEHRME

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (continued)

During the year, no housing allowance, other benefits and
remunerations in respect of accepting office as director were paid
to or receivable by the directors in respect of their services as
directors (2023: same). During the year, no emoluments were paid
or receivable by the directors in respect of director’s other services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
or its subsidiary undertaking (2023: same).

(A)

(B)

(€)

(D)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year, no retirement benefits were paid to or
receivable by the directors in respect of their services as
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2023: same).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, no consideration was provided to or
receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2023: Nil).
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(%)

REER  BESFEARTESHRTE

A REWIES R - AN LS
—E-=F:BRAEAR) - AFE

N BEEEREEEAQASENE

REEF MR M2 B AR 2 S S

W& (ZZ==F : BERMER) -

(A) EBRAER
AEEAN  BEEERETARA]
LEMBAREERHERARF
HEME AR EHMRH 2 EBR
BEXNHBYCRARERN (ZF
— =% BRERD -

(B) E=BBEF
AEER  BERKEEERSM
HEIHEZERES A SEDEM
fTaREi i A - IR R A B S RIE
ZE=F | o

(C) MEMEERKEMAF=FX
F2Z2RE
AEER - HERERESREM
BNEZAREZFERZAE
ZE=F | o

(D) ERAUNESE  EE2ZEHE
ErRBAEERASZAZE
N EERREMRZ 2E R

REERN HENER EFEZX
ZHEENHEERAYEAZE
F o BEFSIEMR S (ZF==

FE)
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RE VI E|RMEE

32 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORSAND 32 EERTHARZEANEER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (continued) (4&)
(E) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (E)

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 23 “Bank borrowings” and Note

28 “Related party transactions” to the consolidated financial

statements, the transactions with HKC and its subsidiaries TEIN  AEBERREWEARR
and in which Mr. OEl Kang, Eric was interested, no significant IRERMEENREREEER 2
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the S8 - RRE AR B 2T E]
Group's business to which the Company was a party and SNARREERNHEP EESEERE
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, BERED  MARNEEERFIFK
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year RAFEREMRERTFENERAR
or at any time during the year. S BHEREH -

EERRS  THIEHNHZ
ERER

Rz e M5 MR E23 TRITHE
R MPE28 [R5 ] P

FTEMBARRBE QT
TRENEEARUAREBMELER X
BEFEBKNEIBZE CWE LR R

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33
Listed below are the subsidiaries and associates which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net
assets of the Group.

Issued share
capital/ Paid up

Place of incorporation/
operation and kind of

Percentage of equity/
Paid up registered

Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
i bk BRITRE Frisws
=L REEERER TEXH B4EmELR BYEMEXTSL
2024 2023

i3 —B-=F

Subsidiaries

MWEAR

China Renewable Energy (Nanxun) Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

TEBERER(AR)ERAA+ &/ HE REER 1B

China Renewable Energy (Services) Limited Hong Kong Human resources HK$1 100% 100%

management

TEBERER(ERE)ERAA % ANEBERER 1B

China Renewable Energy (Songxian) Limited+  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

FEBEER(EHR) RO+ &%/ HE REZR 1T

HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

BEFRER(OT)ZRERAF + &%/ HH AR 1787

HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$4 100% 100%

BEMR(EsT) B BRAR + &/ HE AR 4B

HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited+ Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%

BEEMER(HB)RERERAA + BE,/HHE REER 1B
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Company Ltd.+
TMENBEEHMI) BRI +

joint venture

hE/ IR ELE

Heilongjiang, the PRC
RPBERETZEN
HEIEA
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R MBHRRME
33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33 FENBATIRBE AT (&)
(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/
operation and kind of capital/ Paid up Paid up registered
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
Gl d-Fb BRITRE/ FiisREs,
28 REEERER TEEH EREmES BAEMERTL
2024 2023
—EC-ME —T-=F
Subsidiaries (Continued)
it 2 =) ()
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited+
EAFLR(NT THREERAT + &%/ 7E BT 2387
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi l) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited+
EEFER(MTIN-HARARAR  F5/4E BERR 1,000 7
Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Limited+  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% 100%
FI BB (RE)BR AR + BB/ FH REER 2087
HKE (BVI) Limited+ British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
BEMLRBV)BRAF + RERELEHS REER 1%7T
HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
BEHER(AE)ZRERAR HEREIHE REZR 17T
HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power Limited+ British Virgin Islands Investment holding US$1,000 100% 100%
BEMEREST BV EALARRAE + EBEIHE REER 1,000% 7T
Sinoriver International Limited+ British Virgin Islands/PRC  Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
I BB AR AR + RBRLEE/TE REZR 1%
APC Wind Power Pte Limited+ Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% 100%
HIE REER 10 KT
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) PRC/Sino-foreign equity Wind power project in HK$100,000,000 86% 86%
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RE VI E|RMEE

33

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

33 FEMBARANRBELQT (&)

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/
operation and kind of capital/ Paid up Paid up registered
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
Rt avpgd-$ 1 BRITRE/ FrisEs
a8 REEERER TEEH BAEMELR BAEMERTL
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=fF
Subsidiaries (Continued)
it 8 2 B) (40D
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) Co. Ltd.+ PRC/Sino-foreign equity Wind power project in HK$150,100,000 86.68% 86.68%
joint venture Heilongjiang, the PRC
BEERNBE(BE)BRAAF + FERONEERE R BEERETZEN 150,100,000/ 7T
#EIHE
BEMERN T EEREBRAR + PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB166,480,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
FESNEBERE RABREHEFERE AR 166,480,000 T
ZENEEEE
FEREFTREIRIN T T IEEAE AR A E] + PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB172,526,500 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
FEIEBELE RHEBERNFEEFER AR 172,526,500 7T
ZRNEEERB
Songxian HKE Wind Power Limited+ PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB210,000,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Songxian, Henan,
the PRC
BHRABRREARAA + FEINEEERE RHBEsE B AR 210,000,000 T
HEIHE
Huzhou HKE Energy Limited+ PRC wholly foreign- Distributed solar project RMB15,000,000 100% 100%

MBRERT R AR A +

owned enterprise

PRI BEDE

in Nanxun, Zhejiang,
the PRC

R BEMHIEEZ
HHAKRGEIER

AR # 15,000,000 7T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMIBEHRME

33 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 33 FEMBARAKRBE T (#)

(continued)
Place of incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of equity/
operation and kind of capital/ Paid up Paid up registered
Name legal entity Principal activities registered capital capital held
Rt avpgd-$ 1 BRITRE/ FrisEs
z28 REEERER TEEH BAEMELR BAEMERTL
2024 2023
—E-ME —T==
Associates
BENT
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company PRC/Sino-foreign equity Wind power project in RMB589,620,000 40%
Limited+# joint venture Changma, Gansu,
the PRC
B R(HB)RNEEEARDA + RE RN ERE RHBEHBESZES AR 589,620,000 T
%IAA
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited+#  PRC/Sino-foreign equity Wind power project in RMB545,640,000 40%
joint venture Danjinghe, Hebei,
the PRC
e RENBEE (R ARRE + hE/RIEERE R BB &2 AR 545,640,000 70
EAOEEER
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company Limited+#  PRC/Sino-foreign equity Wind power project in RMB323,260,000 30%

joint venture

Lunaobao, Hebei,

the PRC
FET R REE N BB (RIL)BERAR + RE A ERE REPBT AR R 2 AR 323,260,000 7T
EAHEEEE
Remarks: e
+ Interest held by subsidiaries + %ﬁﬁEE! M‘TE Q?*fﬁ R
# Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification purpose only. # FFIEA ST RAER - BT
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Five-year Financial Summary

A FMBEHE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECONE  ZE-=f —ET--F T —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FER FET FET FET FET
Consolidated statement of &4 2EWAHEK
comprehensive income
Revenue W 163,065 181,337 197,184 250,255 206,122
Profit before income tax TS B A R F 18,113 23,067 37,142 125,624 96,327
Income tax expense FTS sz (3,704) (4,277) (7,323) (13,823) (10,261)
Profit for the year REZ 5 F 14,409 18,790 29,819 111,801 86,066
Profit/(loss) attributable to: e EF,/ (B18)
Equity holders of RRRERFAA
the Company 16,475 23,281 31,111 113,354 86,152
Non-controling interests iR (2,066) 4,491) (1,292) (1,553) (86)
14,409 18,790 29,819 111,801 86,066
Consolidated statement FEMBERRE
of financial position
Net current assets MEVEEFE 510,173 421,071 340,638 305,883 234,665
Non-current assets FREEE 1,534,505 1,730,040 1,902,662 2,198,350 2,265,559
Non-current liabilities FREEE (223,096) (277,130) (328,558) (456,504) (586,825)
Net assets including EESE
non-controlling interests (BIEFEERER) 1,821,582 1,873,981 1,914,742 2,047,729 1,913,399
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Five-year Financial Summary

hFEMBHE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECONE  ZE-=f —ET--F T —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR FHT FHT FET FHET
Share capital P& 7 25,062 25,062 25,062 25,062 25,062
Reserves L 1,806,573 1,857,064 1,893,397 2,025,142 1,889,257
Non-controling interests RS (10,053) (8,145) 3,717) (2,475) (920)
Total equity b ke 1,821,582 1,873,981 1,914,742 2,047,729 1,913,399
Earnings per share FREF
- basic (HK cents) - EARCE) 0.66 0.93 1.24 452 3.44
Dividend per share BRERE
- attributable to the year - R EREME B
(HK cents) 0.5 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.8
Return on total equity (Note)  # A8 %8 [0 3 3K (P 3 ) 0.79% 1.00% 1.56% 5.46% 4.50%
Note: P5E:

Return on total equity represents profit/loss for the year expressed as a percentage of the S 4AFERIMRE BAFEHH,HEIBHEBEE 2 FL
closing total equity for the year concerned. BERBE AN -
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China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

TEBLRRREARAA

9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

FBNERDERE B 755 B F 0o

www.cre987.com
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